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Marquis Aurbach Coffing 

Phillip S. Aurbach, Esq. 

Nevada Bar No. 1501 

Alexander K. Calaway, Esq. 

Nevada Bar No. 15188 

10001 Park Run Drive 

Las Vegas, Nevada 89145 

Telephone: (702) 382-0711 

Facsimile: (702) 382-5816 

paurbach@maclaw.com 

acalaway@maclaw.com 

Attorneys for Respondent 

 

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 

CLEMENT MUNEY; AND CHEF 
EXEC SUPPLIERS, LLC, 
 
    Appellants, 
 
 vs. 
 
DOMINIQUE ARNOULD, 
 
    Respondent. 
 

 
Case No.: 81355 
 
 
 
 
 
Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District 
Court, The Honorable Judge Nancy L. 
Allf Presiding. 

 

MOTION TO DISMISS APPEAL 

Dominique Arnould, by and through his attorneys of record, Marquis 

Aurbach Coffing, hereby moves this Court to dismiss this appeal with prejudice 

pursuant to NRAP 27.  This Motion is made and based upon the Memorandum of 

Points and Authorities and the pleadings and papers on file herein. 

Electronically Filed
Jul 31 2020 02:40 p.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

Docket 81355   Document 2020-28055
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MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

I. INTRODUCTION 

This appeal suffers from severe jurisdictional defects.  Pursuant to 

NRAP 3A(b) and NRCP 54(b), the Court should dismiss this appeal for its failure 

to appeal from a final and appealable order.  NRAP 3A(b)(3)-(4) cannot save this 

appeal from its jurisdictional defects either, since the order at issue did not grant or 

deny injunctive relief nor grant or deny appointment of a receiver.  Since the 

defects in this appeal are jurisdictional, Respondent respectfully requests that this 

Court dismiss this appeal pursuant to NRAP 27. 

II. FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND 

On October 11, 2019, Plaintiff, Dominque Arnould (“Arnould”), filed a 

Complaint seeking the judicial dissolution of Defendant Chef Exec Suppliers, LLC 

(the “Company”).1  The Complaint also sought the appointment of a receiver, 

declaratory relief, accounting, and breach of fiduciary duty against Defendant 

Clement Muney (“Muney”).  On November 7, 2019, Defendant Muney filed an 

Answer to Arnould’s Complaint and filed Counterclaims against Arnould.2  

 
1 See Complaint, attached hereto as Exhibit A.  

2 See Answer and Counterclaims, attached hereto as Exhibit B. 
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On December 23, 2019, Arnould filed his Motion for Appointment of 

Trustee (or receiver) over the Company.3 Before the District Court ruled on the 

motion for receiver the parties agreed to attend a settlement conference on 

February 7, 2020, wherein the parties discussed terms of a settlement, however, 

settlement fell through. On March 20, 2020, Muney filed his Countermotion for 

Enforcement of Settlement Agreement.4 Due to the effects of the COVID-19 

pandemic, however, the District Court continued its consideration of the 

outstanding motions. 

On May 20, 2020, Muney filed an Amended Application for Temporary 

Restraining Order and Motion for Preliminary Injunction, wherein Muney request 

alleged that Arnould had misused Company funds. 5  On May 20, 2020, the District 

Court preliminarily granted Muney’s Temporary Restraining Order (“TRO”) and 

set a hearing to review the merits of an injunction.6  On May 22, 2020, Arnould 

 
3 See Plaintiff’s Motion for Appointment of Trustee, attached hereto as Exhibit C.  

4 See Countermotion for Enforcement of Settlement Agreement, attached hereto as 

Exhibit D.  

5 See Amended Application for Temporary Restraining Order and Motion for 

Preliminary Injunction, attached hereto as Exhibit E.  

6 See Notice of Entry of Order (TRO), attached hereto as Exhibit F.  
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filed his Opposition to Application for TRO and Countermotion to Vacate TRO,7 

presenting evidence of Muney’s dissipation of Company funds, including wrongful 

monthly payments Muney was making to himself.  As such, Arnould’s actions did 

not warrant an injunction, but were necessary to protect Company funds from 

Muney. 

On May 22, 2020, the District Court heard oral argument on: (1) Muney’s 

countermotion for enforcement of settlement agreement; (2) Muney’s motions for 

TRO and preliminary injunction; (3) Arnould’s countermotion to vacate TRO; and 

(4) Arnould’s motion to appoint a receiver.8  

In a June 8, 2020 order, the District Court: (1) denied Muney’s 

countermotion for to enforce settlement; (2) denied Muney’s motions for TRO and 

preliminary injunction; (3) granted Arnould’s countermotion to vacate the TRO; 

and (4) granted Arnould’s motion to appoint a receiver over the Company.  It was 

in this June 8, 2020 order that the District Court appointed a receiver, and further 

held that the appointed receiver would be a person stipulated to by the parties. 

 
7 See Plaintiff’s Opposition to Application for TRO and Countermotion to Vacate 

TRO, attached hereto as Exhibit G.  

8 See Order on June 8, 2020, attached hereto as Exhibit H.  
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After the parties were unable to reach an agreement as to who the appointed 

receiver would be, Arnould filed his Motion to Select Receiver.9  

Shortly thereafter, Muney locked Arnould out of the Company’s Nevada 

warehouse, forcing Arnould to file an Emergency Request for Telephonic Hearing 

For Appointment of Receiver to Take Over the Warehouse of For the Order 

Allowing Access (the “Emergency Request”).10  The gist of Arnould’s Emergency 

Request was for the appointed receiver to oversee access of the warehouse.  

Notably, Arnould’s Emergency Request did not seek injunctive relief, only that the 

already appointed receiver oversee the Nevada warehouse.11  

On June 12, 2020, the District Court heard Arnould’s Emergency Request, 

and entered its Order (the “Order”): (1) selecting Larry L. Bertsch as the appointed 

receiver; (2) that Muney immediately allow access the warehouse; (3) that Muney 

pay for security to monitor the warehouse; and (4) that the receiver change the 

locks on the warehouse and facilitate access.12  Notably, injunctive relief was not 

granted.13  Regardless, on June 6, 2020, Muney filed his Notice of Appeal, and on 

 
9 See Motion to Select Receiver, attached hereto as Exhibit I.  

10 See Plaintiff’s Emergency Request for Telephonic Hearing for An Appointment 
of Receiver to Take Over the Warehouse, attached hereto as Exhibit J.  

11 See id.  

12 See Order on June 12, 2020, at p. 2, attached hereto as Exhibit K. 

13 See id.  
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June 30, 2020, Muney filed his Case Appeal Statement, wherein he erroneously 

states that the Order being appealed from is an order “Granting a Motion for 

Preliminary Injunction.”14 

III. LEGAL ARGUMENT 

A final, appealable order is “one that disposes of all the issues presented in 

the case, and leaves nothing for the future consideration of the court, except for 

post-judgment issues such as attorney’s fees and costs.”  Lee v. GNLV Corp., 116 

Nev. 424, 426, 996 P.2d 416, 417 (2000).  In examining finality, this Court looks 

at “what the order or judgment actually does” with respect to each claim.  Valley 

Bank of Nevada v. Ginsburg, 110 Nev. 440, 445, 874 P.2d 729, 733 (1994).   

Under NRCP 54(b), when multiple parties are involved in an action, a 

judgment is not final unless the rights and liabilities of all parties are adjudicated.  

Rae v. All Am. Life & Cas. Co., 95 Nev. 920, 605 P.2d 196 (1979).  Only when a 

district court expressly determines that there is no just reason for delay and directs 

the entry of judgment as final, does the judgment become final.  Mallin v. Farmers 

Ins. Exch., 106 Nev. 606, 797 P.2d 978 (1990).  The Supreme Court has 

jurisdiction to entertain an appeal only where an appeal is authorized by statute or 

court rule.  See e.g. Valley Bank of Nevada, 110 Nev. at 444, 874 P.2d. at 732. 

 
14 See Case Appeal Statement, at p. 2:11-13, attached hereto as Exhibit L.  
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In the instant case, Muney has not appealed from an appealable order under 

NRCP 54(b), and, therefore, his appeal is jurisdictionally defective.  The District 

Court’s Order at issue was never certified as final under NRCP 54(b); nor did the 

Order adjudicate all of the claims, rights, and liabilities of all parties. 15  Therefore, 

Muney’s appeal is jurisdictionally defective and must be dismissed.  

Further, NRAP 3A(b)(3)-(4) provides that an appeal may be taken from an 

order granting or refusing an injunction or an order appointing or refusing to 

appoint a receiver.  See e.g. State ex rel. List v. Mirin, 92 Nev. 503, 553 P.2d 966 

(1976).  In this case, the District Court’s Order did neither.  Instead, this appeal has 

attempted to conflate the District Court’s June 8th and June 12th orders in a futile 

effort to create standing.16   

To be sure, in its June 8th order, the District Court properly vacated the TRO 

and denied injunctive relief.17  It was in this order, that the District Court also 

appointed a receiver.  Subsequently, on June 10, 2020, Arnould filed his 

Emergency Request that the District Court direct its appointed receiver to facilitate 

access to the warehouse.18  Then, in its June 12th Order, the District Court: 

 
15 See Exhibit K, attached hereto.  

16 See id. (June 12th Order); c.f. Exhibit H (June 8th order).  

17 See Exhibit H.  

18 See Exhibit J.  
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(1) selected Larry L. Bertsch to serve in the receivership; (2) ordered Muney to 

immediately provide access to the warehouse; (3) ordered Muney to pay for 

security for the warehouse; and (4) ordered the receiver to change the locks to the 

warehouse and facilitate access.19  

Notably, injunctive relief was not granted by the District Court in its 

June 12th Order, and, therefore, it is not an appealable determination under 

NRAP 3A(b)(3).20  Also of note, since the District Court had already appointed a 

receiver in its June 8th Order, the June 12th Order cannot be construed as an order 

appointing or refusing to appoint a receiver under NRAP 3A(b)(4).21  While 

Muney’s Case Appeal Statement alleges that the order being appealed was an order 

which “Granted a Motion for Preliminary Injunction,” this is misleading and 

factually impossible in light of the nature of the Order.22  In sum, the District 

Court’s June 12th Order is not final, and, therefore, this appeal must be dismissed 

as jurisdictionally defective.  

 
19 See Exhibit K, at p. 2. 

20 See id.  

21 See id.; c.f. Exhibit H.  

22 See Exhibit L, at p. 2:11-13.  
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IV. CONCLUSION 

Pursuant to NRAP 3A(b) and NRCP 54(b), the Court must dismiss this 

appeal for its failure to appeal from a final and appealable Order.  NRAP 3A(b)(3)-

(4) cannot rescue this appeal from its jurisdictional defects either, since the Order 

did not grant or deny injunctive relief; nor did it appoint a receiver.  Since the 

defects in this appeal are jurisdictional, Respondent respectfully requests this Court 

dismiss this appeal pursuant to NRAP 27. 

Dated this 31st day of July, 2020. 

MARQUIS AURBACH COFFING 

By /s/ Alexander K. Calaway  

Phillip S. Aurbach, Esq. 

Nevada Bar No. 1501 

Alexander K. Calaway, Esq. 

Nevada Bar No. 15188 

10001 Park Run Drive 

Las Vegas, Nevada  89145 

Attorneys for Respondent 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that the foregoing MOTION TO DISMISS APPEAL was 

filed electronically with the Nevada Supreme Court on the 31st day of July, 2020.  

Electronic Service of the foregoing document shall be made in accordance with the 

Master Service List as follows: 

Robert Kern 
 

I further certify that I served a copy of this document by mailing a true and 

correct copy thereof, postage prepaid, addressed to: 

Persi J. Mishel 

10161 Park Run Dr., Suite 150 

Las Vegas, Nevada 89145 

Settlement Judge 

 

 

 

 /s/ Leah Dell  

Leah Dell, an employee of 

Marquis Aurbach Coffing 



 

INDEX OF EXHIBITS TO MOTION TO DISMISS APPEAL 

Exhibit 
No. 

Description 

A.  Complaint (10/11/19) 

B.  Answer and Counterclaims (11/07/19) 

C.  Motion for Appointment of Trustee (12/10/19) 

D.  Defendants’ Opposition to Motion for Partial Summary Judgment and Countermotion for 
Enforcement of Settlement Agreement (03/20/20) 

E.  Defendants’ Application for Temporary Restraining Order and Motion for Preliminary 
Injunction (05/20/20) 

F.  Notice of Entry (TRO) (05/21/20) 

G.  Plaintiff’s Opposition to Application for Temporary Restraining Order and Countermotion 
to Vacate Temporary Restraining Order (05/22/20) 

H.  Order (TRO) (06/08/20) 

I.  Plaintiff’s Motion to Select Receiver (06/05/20) 

J.  Plaintiff’s Emergency Request for Telephonic Hearing for Appointment of Receiver to 
Take Over the Warehouse or for Order Allowing Access (06/10/20) 

K.  Order (Receiver) (06/12/20) 

L.  Case Appeal Statement (06/30/20) 
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Marquis Aurbach Coffing 
Phillip S. Aurbach, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 1501 
10001 Park Run Drive 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89145 
Telephone: (702) 382-0711 
Facsimile: (702) 382-5816 
paurbach@maclaw.com 

Attorneys for Plaintiff 
 

DISTRICT COURT 
 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

DOMINIQUE ARNOULD, 
 
 
    Plaintiff, 
 
 
 vs. 
 
 
CLEMENT MUNEY; CHEF EXEC 
SUPPLIERS, LLC; and DOES I through X, 
inclusive; and ROE CORPORATIONS I through 
X, inclusive, 
 
 
    Defendants. 

 
 
Case No.:  
Dept. No.:  
 
 
Arbitration Exemption Requested: 
(Declaratory Relief) 
 
Business Court Requested: 
(NRS Chapters 78-92A) 
 
 
 
 

COMPLAINT FOR APPOINTMENT OF A RECEIVER OR DISSOLUTION OF LLC; 
DECLARATORY RELIEF; BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTY; AND DAMAGES 

Plaintiff DOMINIQUE ARNOULD (hereinafter “Arnould”) by and through his attorneys 

Marquis Aurbach Coffing, alleges and complains as follows: 

PARTIES 

1. Clement Muney (hereinafter Muney) is a 50% owner/member and co-manager of 

CHEF EXEC SUPPLIERS, LLC, (hereinafter Chef Suppliers or the Company).  

2. Arnould is the other 50% owner/member and co-manager of Chef Suppliers. 

3. Muney and Chef Suppliers at all relevant times mentioned herein, were doing 

business in Clark County, Nevada. 

4. The names and capacities, whether individuals, corporate, associate or otherwise 

of Defendants named herein as DOE and ROE CORPORATION are unknown or not yet 

Case Number: A-19-803488-B

Electronically Filed
10/11/2019 2:17 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT

CASE NO: A-19-803488-B
Department 27



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

Page 2 of 5 
MAC:15755-001 3864623_4 10/11/2019 9:40 AM 

M
A

R
Q

U
IS

 A
U

R
BA

C
H

 C
O

FF
IN

G
 

10
00

1 
Pa

rk
 R

un
 D

riv
e 

La
s V

eg
as

, N
ev

ad
a 

 8
91

45
 

(7
02

) 3
82

-0
71

1 
 F

A
X

:  
(7

02
) 3

82
-5

81
6 

confirmed.  Upon information and belief, said DOE and ROE CORPORATION Defendants are 

responsible for damages suffered by Plaintiff and, therefore, Plaintiff sues said Defendants by 

such fictitious names.  Plaintiff will ask leave to amend this Complaint to show the true names 

and capacities of each DOE and ROE CORPORATION Defendant at such time as the same has 

been ascertained.  

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

5. This Court possesses:  

a. Subject matter jurisdiction because District Courts have subject matter 

jurisdiction over claims that are not within the subject matter jurisdiction of the Justice Court 

pursuant to Article 6, Section 6.1 of the Nevada Constitution and this claim is not within the 

subject matter jurisdiction of the Justice Court.  

b. This Court has personal jurisdiction over the Defendants because the 

Defendants reside in and do business in Clark County, NV. 

BACKGROUND FACTS 

6. Arnould and Muney are 50/50 owners of Chef Suppliers. 

7. Arnould and Muney are both are managers of Chef Suppliers.   

8. Chef Suppliers has no written operating agreement. 

9. Disputes between Arnould and Muney have arisen and are so deep that it is not 

reasonably practicable to carry on the business of the Company.  

10. One of the disputes is that Las Vegas rent for Chef Suppliers was approximately 

$3,800/month.  The lease expired and the landlord wanted approximately $5,800/month.  

Without any joint agreement, Muney is paying almost $11,000/month rent.  This rent is paid 

from sales of Chef Suppliers inventory.  This is a breach of his fiduciary duty owed to Arnould 

and thus, Muney should be personally responsible for the difference between $5,800/month and 

$11,000/ month. 

11. It has been impossible to get Muney to discuss his breach of fiduciary duties 

including but not limited to forming a new entity and having payments for Chef Suppliers’ 
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inventory go to his new entity, which was formed without the knowledge or consent of Plaintiff 

Arnould. 

12. A manager may ask a court to dissolve an LLC when, pursuant to NRS 86.495, it 

is not reasonably practicable to carry on the business of the company. 

13. Arnould is a manager. 

14. It would be a futile effort to make a demand on Muney since Muney is not 

disinterested, Muney’s judgment is materially affected in favor of his actions and against the best 

interests of Chef Suppliers and nothing can be accomplished when both disagree on the direction 

of the company. 

15. Arnould or Chef Suppliers derivatively have been damaged by Defendants’ 

actions in an amount in excess of $15,000.  

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
(Declaratory Relief, Receiver and Dissolution) 

16. Arnould repeats and re-alleges the above paragraphs as though fully stated herein. 

17. Because it is not reasonably practicable to carry on the business of the company 

an Order granting dissolution should be entered pursuant to NRS 86.495 and 86.505. 

18. This Court should declare that the requirements for the appointment of a Receiver 

to run the Las Vegas operations of Chef Suppliers and potentially dissolve the company since the 

requirements for Dissolution have been met. 

19. In order to pursue his claims as a direct and proximate result of the Defendants’ 

conduct outlined herein, Arnould has incurred attorneys’ fees as special damages in the sum of 

$5,000 as of the date of filing this pleading and increasing up to and through trial and appeal, if 

any.  

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
(Breach of Fiduciary Duty & Accounting) 

20. Plaintiff repeats and realleges the paragraphs above as though fully stated herein. 

21. Arnould believes that Muney has taken money and diverted business 

opportunities and customers from Defendant Chef Suppliers and by virtue thereof has breached 

his fiduciary duties to Chef Suppliers and to Arnould. 
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22. Defendant Muney owes such funds and profits derived therefrom to Chef 

Suppliers and/or Arnould. 

23. The Court should order a yearly accounting of all funds taken in and spent from 

Chef Suppliers for the last 3 years so Arnould can determine the amount of Muney’s defalcation.  

24. Arnould or Chef Suppliers derivatively is entitled to a judgment in an amount in 

excess of $15,000 as a direct and proximate result of Defendant Muney’s actions. 

25. In order to pursue and defend its claims as a direct and proximate result of the 

Defendants’ conduct outlined herein, Arnould has incurred attorneys’ fees as special damages in 

the sum of $5,000 as of the date of this pleading and increasing up to and through trial and 

appeal, if any. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, Arnould prays for the following relief against Defendants: 

1. For an Order Appointing a Receiver and an Order requiring dissolution of Chef 

Suppliers in the ordinary course by the Receiver or by Arnould, its manager. 

2. For a judgment in favor of Arnould or Chef Suppliers in a sum in excess of 

$15,000; Against Muney for Defendant Muney’s breach of fiduciary duty.  

3. Attorneys fees as special damages in the sum of $5,000 against Defendants as of 

the date of this pleading and increasing up to and through trial and appeal, if any, and 

4. For any further relief as the Court deems to be just and proper. 

Dated this 11th day of October, 2019. 

MARQUIS AURBACH COFFING 

By  /s/ Phillip S. Aurbach     
Phillip S. Aurbach, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 1501 
10001 Park Run Drive 
Las Vegas, Nevada  89145 
Attorney(s) for Plaintiff 
 
 
 
 



VERIFICATION  

Under penalties of perjury, the undersigned declares that he is the plaintiff named in the 

foregoing complaint and knows the contents thereof; that the pleading is true of his own 

knowledge, except as to those matters stated on information and belief, and that as to such 

matters he believes it to be true. 

Dated this  I'D  day of October, 2019 
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ANS
Robert Kern, Esq.
Nevada Bar Number 10104
KERN LAW, Ltd.
601 S. 6th Street
Las Vegas, NV 89101
(702) 518-4529 phone
(702) 825-5872 fax
Admin  @KernLawOffices.com
Attorney for Defendants

IN THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

 DOMINIQUE ARNOULD,
                                
                                  Plaintiff,
  vs.

CLEMENT MUNEY; CHEF EXEC 
SUPPLIERS, LLC; and DOES I through X,
inclusive, and ROE CORPORATIONS I 
through X, inclusive,

                                  Defendants.

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

 Case Number: A-19-803488-B
         
 Dept. Number: 27

 

ANSWER AND COUNTERCLAIMS

 CLEMENT MUNEY; and CHEF EXEC 
SUPPLIERS, LLC,
                                
                                  Plaintiffs,
  vs.

DOMINIQUE ARNOULD,
                                
                                 
                                  Defendant.

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

 

 

COME NOW Defendants, CLEMENT MUNEY, (hereinafter “Muney”), and CHEF

EXEC SUPPLIERS, LLC (hereinafter, “CHEFEXEC”) by and through their undersigned

counsel  Robert  Kern,  ESQ.,  of  KERN  LAW,  Ltd.  and  submit  this  Answer  and

Counterclaims to Plaintiff's Complaint on file herein and allege and aver as follows:
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Case Number: A-19-803488-B

Electronically Filed
11/7/2019 5:43 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT

mailto:eservice@KernLawOffices.com
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            1.   Defendant  admits  the  allegations  contained  in  the  following  numbered

paragraphs in Plaintiff's Complaint: 1, 2, 3, 6, 7, 8, and 13.

            2.   Defendant  denies  the  allegations  contained  in  the  following  numbered

paragraphs in Plaintiff's Complaint: 9, 10, 11, 14, 15, 17, 18, 19, 22, 24,  and 25.

 

            3.   Defendant does not have knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as

to the truth of the allegations contained in the following numbered paragraphs in Plaintiff's

Complaint and, therefore, denies them: 4, 5, 12, 16, 20, 21, and 23.

AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES

1.                  The Complaint, and each and every allegation thereof, fails to state facts 

sufficient to constitute a claim against this answering Defendant.

2.                  Plaintiff's claims and damages, if any, are proximately and legally caused by 

parties over whom Defendant had no control.

3.                  Plaintiff’s cause of action is barred by the doctrine of unclean hands and 

Plaintiff’s failure to do equity. 

4.                  Plaintiff's claims are barred under the equitable theory of laches.

5.                  Plaintiff's claims and damages, if any, have been willfully and intentionally 

overstated.  Therefore, Plaintiff's claims are barred by Plaintiff's own malfeasance and 

misfeasance.

6.                  Plaintiff's damages, if any, are caused by its own actions, errors or omissions.

7.                  Plaintiff's damages, if any, are subject to offset.

8.              Plaintiff's damages are barred by its breach of fiduciary duties.

2
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9.              Plaintiff has made allegations with knowledge of their actual falsity and therefore

said claim is violative of the rules of civil procedure and therefore the stated claims should 

be dismissed.

10.              Plaintiff's claims, and each of them, are barred due to fraud.

11.             By virtue of Plaintiff’s actions, conduct, and omissions, this answering 

Defendant has been released. 

12.             The claims of Plaintiff have been waived as a result of the acts and the conduct 

of the Plaintiff. 

13.             Plaintiff suffered no damage and therefore is not entitled to any relief. 

14.             Plaintiff, by his acts, conduct and/or omissions, has ratified the acts, conduct and

omissions, if any, of these answering Defendants; therefore, Plaintiff is barred from seeking 

any relief from these answering Defendants. 

15.              These answering Defendants have not had sufficient time to prepare and obtain 

sufficient facts to determine all potential affirmative defenses.  Therefore, these answering 

Defendants reserve the right to amend these affirmative defenses as additional facts are 

obtained and/or additional affirmative facts are discovered.

COUNTER-CLAIM 

Against PLAINTIFF DOMINIQUE ARNOULD

COME NOW Defendants, CLEMENT MUNEY, (hereinafter “Muney”), and CHEF

EXEC SUPPLIERS, LLC (hereinafter, “CHEFEXEC”) by and through their undersigned

counsel  Robert  Kern,  ESQ.,  of  KERN  LAW,  Ltd.  and  submit  the  following

COUNTERCLAIMS against counter-defendant DOMINIQUE ARBOULD and allege and

aver as follows:
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GENERAL ALLEGATIONS

1. Jurisdiction  and  venue  have  been  established  by  the  elements  of  Plaintiff's

Complaint that Defendants have admitted to.

2. Parties  Dominique  Arnould  (hereinafter,  “Arnould”)  and  Muney  are  equal  co—

owners of Chef Exec, LLC, a Nevada LLC with no current operating agreement. 

3. From the time Chefexec was founded, Arnould managed the Los Angeles side of the

company, and Muney managed the Las Vegas side of the company. 

4. The different branches of the company have been run largely independently of each

other, with the only exception being that Arnould has been responsible for accounting for

the  entire  company  (including  invoicing  for  both  branches),  and  Muney  has  been

responsible for marketing and supply for the whole company. At no time have the parties

agreed that  either  would receive  extra  compensation  for  the work they perform for  the

company. 

5. Both the Los Angeles and Las Vegas branches of Chefexec have been operating at a

profit for the last several years. 

6. Because Arnould managed the accounting through a local version of Quickbooks,

and did not share the accounting files with Muney, Muney was unaware of some details of

Arnould's practices until recently, sometime after the Quickbooks account was transferred

to a cloud server, allowing Muney to access the information from Las Vegas.

7. Arnould is also an owner of two other companies, AAA Food Service, and Wines of

the World. Upon review of accounting records and invoices, it appears that Arnould has

been self dealing in favor of AAA Food Service and Wines of the World, to the detriment of

Chefexec.

8. Both parties agreed to the lease of a warehouse in LA, upon the condition that AAA

Food Service and Wines of the World would split the rent of the space equally,  so they

could share the space. However from review of the books it appears that Arnould did not

charge those companies any rent the first few months, and since then has charged both of
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them a total of only around 10% of the rent, leaving Chefexec to pay the remaining amount,

in contravention of the agreement in which the lease was made. 

9. Records also show that Arnould has sold significant merchandise from Chefexec to

AAA  Food  Service,  at  significant  discounts,  without  authorization  or  knowledge  from

Muney. 

10. Records also show that although both Muney and Arnould are owners, and neither

have agreed to pay themselves for their work on the company, Arnould has made a practice

of paying himself  commissions for sales, including for sales to his own company,  AAA

Food Service, for sales to companies that the partners agreed would be “house” customers

(no commission paid), and sales to customers brought in by sales reps who had left the

company (and thus whose customers should have become “house” customers). 

11. Records show invoices for products to customers, but assigned a zero cost without

explanation.  Such  customers  have  verified  that  they  never  received  said  products.  This

suggests Arnould was likely either providing free product to his own companies, or selling

the product under the table and keeping the proceeds. 

12. Chefexec previously leased a 7,745 sq/ft warehouse in Las Vegas, on a long-term

lease it had held for multiple years, giving it a the company a lower-than-market price for

the space.

13. Chefexec's  lease  of  the  previous  warehouse  expired  on  September  30,  2019.  To

renew the lease, the landlord required a 3-year lease, with a personal guarantee signed by

both owners  of  Chefexec.  When Muney requested that  Arnould sign the lease renewal,

Arnould refused, and his counsel advised Muney to lease the space with another company

and sub-lease to Chefexec from that company (in an email that Arnould was copied on). 

14. Muney  did  as  instructed,  and  leased  through  a  separate  company,  who  charged

Chefexec market price for the space.

15. After filing the complaint initiating the present action, Arnould withdrew $15,000

from Chefexec without authorization or notice, and later admitted that he had taken it, and
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that he intended it as a distribution to himself. His only justification was that he disagreed

with Muney's signing of the Las Vegas warehouse lease.

16. In early 2019, Arnould indicated that he wished to retire soon and wanted to be

bought out from his portion of Chefexec. Arnould had made no significant complaints about

his partnership with Muney prior to deciding that he wished to retire. 

17. Muney  believes  that  a  forensic  audit  of  Chefexec's  books  will  show  additional

wrongdoing by Arnould.

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION
(Breach of Fiduciary Duty)

18. Counter-Plaintiffs repeat and re-allege the allegations contained in the preceding 

paragraphs of their Counterclaim as though fully set forth herein.

19. Arnould, as co-owner and co-manager of an LLC, owed a Fiduciary Duty to 

Counter-Plaintiffs Chefexec and Muney to manage the business, funds, and assets according

to law and agreement.

20.  Arnould breached that duty by acts including, but not limited to: using his position 

as book-keeper to pay himself funds that belonged to the company, allocating himself 

commissions that he was not entitled to, using Chefexec to provide benefits to his own 

companies, at Chefexec's detriment, without authorization, and seeking to dissolve the 

company when Muney did not offer him as much money as he wanted for a buyout.

21.  As a direct result of said breach, Counter-Plaintiffs were damaged by loss of said 

funds, and business, in an amount in excess of fifteen thousand dollars ($15,000), the exact 

amount to be proven at time of trial.

22. It has been necessary for Counter-Plaintiffs to obtain the legal services of Kern Law 

and they are therefore entitled to reimbursement of attorney’s fees and costs incurred in this 

action.

23. The damages were suffered as a direct and proximate result of the conduct described

herein by Counter-Defendant, who acted knowingly with malice and oppression, all to 
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Counter-Plaintiffs' harm, and therefore should be punished for their wrongful conduct with 

punitive damages in an amount to be established at trial.

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION
(Conversion)

24. Counter-Plaintiffs repeat and re-allege the allegations contained in the preceding 

paragraphs of their Counterclaim as though fully set forth herein.

25. Counter-Plaintiffs are the legal owners of funds that were taken by Counter-

Defendant, without legal right or authorization.

26. Counter-Defendant wrongfully and unlawfully took control of said funds, as detailed

above, in denial of, and to the exclusion of, Counter-Plaintiffs' rights thereto.

27. As  a  result  of  Counter-Defendant's  actions,  Counter-Plaintiffs  have  incurred

damages in excess of fifteen thousand dollars ($15,000), the exact amount to be proven at

time of trial.

28. It has been necessary for Counter-Plaintiffs to obtain the legal services of Kern Law 

and they are therefore entitled to reimbursement of attorney’s fees and costs incurred in this 

action.

29. The damages were suffered as a direct and proximate result of the conduct described

herein by Counter-Defendants, who acted knowingly with malice and oppression, all to 

Counter-Plaintiffs' harm, and therefore should be punished for their wrongful conduct with 

punitive damages in an amount to be established at trial.

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION
(Money Had and Received)

30. Counter-Plaintiffs repeat and re-allege the allegations contained in the preceding 

paragraphs of their Counterclaim as though fully set forth herein.

31. Arnould received monies that belonged to Counter-Plaintiffs in the form of funds 

taken from the business.

7



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

32. Arnould ought, in equity and good conscience, to pay over the funds wrongfully 

retained.

33. Arnould has so far refused to pay over the amounts owed.

34. As a direct result of these actions, Counter-Plaintiffs have incurred damages in an 

amount in excess of $15,000, the exact amount to be proven at trial.

35. It has been necessary for Counter-Plaintiffs to obtain the legal services of Kern Law 

and they are therefore entitled to reimbursement of attorney’s fees and costs incurred in this 

action.

36. The damages were suffered as a direct and proximate result of the conduct described

herein by Counter-Defendant, who acted knowingly with malice and oppression, all to 

Counter-Plaintiffs' harm, and therefore should be punished for their wrongful conduct with 

punitive damages in an amount to be established at trial.

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION
(Unjust Enrichment)

37. Counter-Plaintiffs repeat and re-allege the allegations contained in the preceding 

paragraphs of their Counterclaim as though fully set forth herein.

38. The benefit of receipt of funds and monies belonging to Chefexec, or other sales 

reps or owners of Chefexec, was conferred upon Arnould. 

39. Arnould took and kept said funds, clearly appreciating the benefit.

40. Arnould did not return said funds, and thus retained the benefits received.

41. As said funds were over an above any funds Arnould was entitled to take from the 

company, Arnould's taking and retention of the benefit of said funds  is inequitable and 

unjust. 

42. As a direct result of these actions, Chefexec and Muney have incurred damages in an

amount in excess of $15,000, the exact amount to be proven at trial.

43. It has been necessary for Counter-Plaintiffs to obtain the legal services of Kern Law 

and they are therefore entitled to reimbursement of attorney’s fees and costs incurred in this 

action.
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44. The damages were suffered as a direct and proximate result of the conduct described

herein by Counter-Defendant, who acted knowingly with malice and oppression, all to 

Counter-Plaintiffs' harm, and therefore should be punished for their wrongful conduct with 

punitive damages in an amount to be established at trial.

FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION 
(Constructive Fraud)

45. Counter-Plaintiffs repeat and re-allege the allegations contained in the preceding 

paragraphs of their Counterclaim as though fully set forth herein.

46. By virtue  of  the  fiduciary  relationship  between  Arnould,  Muney,  and Chefexec,

Arnould had a duty to lawfully manage and disburse the funds and assets belonging to

Chefexec. As described in the general allegations above, Arnould breached this duty by his

wrongful and intentional failure to do so, and by hiding his breach of duty from his business

partner. 

47. Arnould committed the acts complained of in this cause of action with the intent to

deceive and defraud Chefexec and Muney. Upon information and belief, Arnould caused

Muney to enter a fiduciary relationship with him and offered to manage the accounting and

billing of the company in order to take wrongful possession of company monies, with the

intent  to  induce  reliance  upon  Arnould  in  his  promise  to  manage  the  finances  of  the

Company and disburse profits. Arnould breached this fiduciary duty intentionally and with

forethought. 

48. As a result of Arnould's actions, Muney and Chefexec have incurred damages in

excess of fifteen thousand dollars ($15,000), the exact amount to be proven at time of trial. 
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49. It has been necessary for Counter-Plaintiffs to obtain the legal services of Kern Law

and Counter-Plaintiffs are therefore entitled to reimbursement of attorney’s fees and costs

incurred in this action. 

50. As a direct and proximate result of the representations and conduct described herein

by Arnould,  who acted knowingly with malice and oppression,  all  to Counter-Plaintiffs'

harm, and therefore should be punished for his wrongful conduct with punitive damages in

an amount to be established at trial. 

SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION
(FRAUDULENT CONCEALMENT)

51. Counter-Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate herein by reference each and every 

allegation contained in all preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.

52. The facts (as described above) of Arnould's taking commissions that he was not 

entitled to, of taking unauthorized disbursements, of making false invoices to account for 

missing inventory, and upon information and belief, taking or selling that inventory for his 

own benefit, were material facts in deciding whether or not to continue doing business with 

Arnould, and continuing to allow Arnould to manage the accounting of Chefexec. 

53. Arnould had a duty to disclose all dealing to his partner, but nonetheless 

intentionally concealed such acts.

54. Arnould's concealment of his acts, as described above, was concealed specifically to 

prevent Chefexec and Muney from taking action to stop him from taking further monies 

from the company.

55. Because Muney and Arnould had been longtime friends, and Arnould had 

experience managing companies, Muney's reliance upon him to lawfully and honestly 

manage the accounting of the company was objectively reasonable. 
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56. As a direct result of Arnould's actions, Counter-Plaintiffs have incurred damages in 

an amount in excess of $15,000, the exact amount to be proven at trial.

57. It has been necessary for Counter-Plaintiffs to obtain the legal services of Kern Law 

and Counter-Plaintiffs are therefore entitled to reimbursement of attorney’s fees and costs 

incurred in this action.

58. As a direct and proximate result of the representations and conduct described herein 

by Arnould, who acted knowingly with malice and oppression, all to Counter-Plaintiffs' 

harm, and therefore should be punished for their wrongful conduct with punitive damages in

an amount to be established at trial. 

WHEREFORE, Defendants/Counter-Plaintiffs demand judgment against Plaintiff for:

1. Compensatory damages in excess of $15,000;

2. An accounting of the business;

3. Return of all funds stolen, embezzled, or in any other way wrongfully taken; 

4. Attorneys fees and costs of the action;

5. Punitive damages in an amount to be determined by the Court; and

6. All other relief this Court finds to be proper.

DATED this 7th day of November, 2019

KERN LAW

By: _/s/ Robert Kern /s/______
Robert Kern, Esq.
2421 Tech Center Ct. #104
Las Vegas, NV  89128
(702) 518-4529
Attorney for Defendants
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

            I hereby certify that on the 7th day of November 2019, I served a true and correct 

copy of the foregoing ANSWER AND COUNTERCLAIMS, pursuant to NRCP 5(b), by 

electronic service, addressed to the following:

 

Phillip S. Aurbach, Esq.
Marquis Aurbach Coffing
Paurbach@Maclaw.com
Counsel for Dominique Arnould

 

                           /s/ Robert Kern                                                                                                            

Employee of Kern Law
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Marquis Aurbach Coffing 
Phillip S. Aurbach, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 1501 
Telephone: (702) 382-0711 
Facsimile: (702) 382-5816 
paurbach@maclaw.com 

Attorneys for Plaintiff 
 

DISTRICT COURT 
 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

DOMINIQUE ARNOULD, 
 
 

Plaintiff/ Counter-Defendant, 
 
 vs. 
 
CLEMENT MUNEY; CHEF EXEC 
SUPPLIERS, LLC; and DOES I through X, 
inclusive; and ROE CORPORATIONS I through 
X, inclusive, 
 
 

        
Defendants/Counterclaimant. 
 

 
 
Case No.: A-19-803488-B 
Dept. No.: 27 
 
 
HEARING REQUESTED 
 
 
 

 
PLAINTIFF DOMINIQUE ARNOULD’S MOTION FOR APPOINTMENT OF 

TRUSTEE 

Plaintiff DOMINIQUE ARNOULD (hereinafter “Arnould”) by and through his attorneys 

Marquis Aurbach Coffing, hereby Moves this Court for an Order Appointing Dominique 

Arnould as Trustee to wind down Chef Exec Suppliers, LLC (Chef Exec Suppliers).  This 

Motion is based on the following Memorandum of Points and Authorities and any oral argument 

permitted at the time of the hearing. 

MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES  

I. INTRODUCTION 

This case involves a two-person LLC with no operating agreement. This case is like a 

divorce where one 50% owner (Clement Muney) does not want to be divorced, but the other 

50% owner (Dominique Arnould) wants a divorce.  

Case Number: A-19-803488-B

Electronically Filed
12/10/2019 1:45 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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II. FACTUAL BACKGROUND.  As shown by the Declaration, attached hereto as 

Exhibit 1:  

1. Arnould and Muney are 50/50 owners of Chef Exec Suppliers. 

2. Arnould and Muney are both managers of Chef Exec Suppliers.   

3. Chef Suppliers has no written operating agreement. 

4. Disputes between Arnould and Muney have arisen and are so deep that it is not 

reasonably practicable to carry on the business of the Company.  

5. One of the disputes is that Las Vegas rent for a warehouse for Chef Exec 

Suppliers was approximately $3,800/month.  The lease expired and the landlord wanted 

approximately $5,800/month.  Without any joint agreement, Muney may have rented the current 

Chef Exec Suppliers warehouse under CMJJ Gourmet, Inc.1, an entity believed to be solely 

owned by Muney and Muney is billing Chef Exec Suppliers about almost $11,000/month rent. 

This rent is paid from sales of Chef Exec Suppliers inventory.  Muney should have made a joint 

decision.  This is a breach of his fiduciary duty owed to Arnould and thus, Muney should be 

personally responsible for the difference between $5,800/month and $11,000/ month. 

6. Much of Arnould’s business is for customers located in California so Arnould 

(without talking to Muney first) took 69 pallets of merchandise out of Muney’s warehouse and 

moved them to a less expensive warehouse in California. Every pallet that was moved from Las 

Vegas to California, was documented and accounted for, noted on the inventory and were only a 

small portion of all of the pallets in the CMJJ Gourmet warehouse. 

7. Arnould was accused of theft and locked out of a warehouse that should be under 

both managing members control.  This is part of an email relating to the pallets: 

a. “it is difficult to see this as anything other than theft, or intentional 

sabotage to pressure a buyout, as it is clearly not a simple changing of 

warehouses. . .  In light of this issue, we have changed the locks on the 

 
1 An entity believed to be solely owned by Muney as shown by Exhibit 2, Nevada Secretary of State 
Entity Information for CMJJ GOURMET, INC. 
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warehouse; Dominique will still be able to access inventory there, he will 

just have to do so through the Las Vegas warehouse manager  

8. The intention was to have this inventory closer to Van Nuys, in case of urgent 

deliveries to our California clients. This is a practical issue for the benefit Chef Suppliers and 

their clients. This inventory represented less than 35% of the total inventory the company. 

9. It has been impossible to get Muney to discuss how to resolve a dissolution of the 

business.  In another email, Muney’s response to dissolution was “I can’t imagine any 

circumstances where we’d agree to a dissolution.” 

10. A manager may ask a court to dissolve an LLC when, pursuant to NRS 86.495, it 

is not reasonably practicable to carry on the business of the company. 

11. Arnould is a manager. 

12. It would be a futile effort to make a demand on Muney since Muney is not 

disinterested, Muney’s judgment is materially affected in favor of his actions and against the best 

interests of Chef Suppliers and nothing can be accomplished when both disagree on the direction 

of the company. 

III. LEGAL ARGUMENT 

NRS 86.495(1) states that  

Upon application by or for a member, the district court may decree dissolution of 

a limited-liability company whenever it is not reasonably practicable to carry on 

the business of the company in conformity with the articles of organization or 

operating agreement. 

 There is no Operating Agreement and both Arnould and Muney are 50/50 owners and 

equal managers with equal authority to run the Company. 

 Nevada Corporation law allows one person to be appointed to wind down the 

corporation. NRS 78.600 states that: 

When any corporation organized under this chapter shall be dissolved or cease to 

exist in any manner whatever, the district court, on application of any creditor 

or stockholder of the corporation, at any time, may either continue the directors 
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trustees as provided in NRS 78.590, or appoint one or more persons to be 

receivers of and for the corporation, to take charge of the estate and effects 

thereof, and to collect the debts and property due and belonging to the 

corporation, with power to prosecute and defend, in the name of the 

corporation, or otherwise, all such suits as may be necessary or proper for 

the purposes aforesaid, and to appoint an agent or agents under them, and to 

do all other acts which might be done by the corporation, if in being, that 

may be necessary for the final settlement of the unfinished business of the 

corporation. The powers of the trustees or receivers may be continued as long as 

the district court shall think necessary for the purposes aforesaid. 

The Nevada Limited Liability Company statutes do not have a counterpart to NRS 

78.600, where one shareholder can be appointed to basically wind down a corporation.   

The closest is NRS 86.541(2) which provides that BOTH managers wind down an LLC.   

2.  The manager or managers in office at the time of dissolution, or the 

members, if there are no managers, or the personal representatives, are thereafter 

trustees of the dissolved company, with full power to prosecute and defend 

suits, actions, proceedings and claims of any kind or character by or against the 

company, to enable the company gradually to settle and close its business, to 

collect its assets, to collect and discharge its obligations, to dispose of and 

convey its property, to distribute its money and other property among the 

members, after paying or adequately providing for the payment of its liabilities 

and obligations, and to do every other act to wind up and liquidate its business 

and affairs, but not for the purpose of continuing the business for which the 

company was established. 

In this case, it is impractical and impossible for both managers to wind down the 

Company.  However, the cost of a 3rd party receiver may consume the Plaintiff and Defendant’s 

assets.   
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Therefore, Plaintiff Dominique Arnould requests that he be appointed as trustee to wind 

down the Company.  The Order should require consultation with Defendant, Muney, and if a 

Stipulation and Order is not reached, then Arnould would seek Court authorization for his 

actions which would preclude any unauthorized expenditures. 

IV. CONCLUSION 

This Court should enter an Order that Dominique Arnould has authority to wind down the 

Company after first consulting with Clement Muney and if they cannot reach a stipulation and 

order, then Dominque Arnould would need to file a Motion to request Court authorization to take 

any further action.  

Dated this 10th day of December, 2019. 

MARQUIS AURBACH COFFING 

By  /s/ Phillip S. Aurbach     
Phillip S. Aurbach, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 1501 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that the foregoing PLAINTIFF DOMINIQUE ARNOULD’S 

MOTION FOR APPOINTMENT OF TRUSTEE was submitted electronically for filing 

and/or service with the Eighth Judicial District Court on the 10th day of December, 2019.  

Electronic service of the foregoing document shall be made in accordance with the E-Service 

List as follows:2 

Robert Kern Robert@Kernlawoffices.com 
Melissa Milroy Admin@KernLawOffices.com 

 
 
 

 /s/ Javie-Anne Bauer     
an employee of Marquis Aurbach Coffing 
 

 
2 Pursuant to EDCR 8.05(a), each party who submits an E-Filed document through the E-Filing System 
consents to electronic service in accordance with NRCP 5(b)(2)(D). 
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ENTITY INFORMATION

ENTITY INFORMATION

REGISTERED AGENT INFORMATION

Entity Name:

CMJJ GOURMET, INC.

Entity Number:

C32300-2002

Entity Type:

Domestic Corporation (78)

Entity Status:

Active

Formation Date:

12/31/2002

NV Business ID:

NV20021515991

Termination Date:

Perpetual

Annual Report Due Date:

12/31/2020

Name of Individual or Legal Entity:

CLEMENT MUNEY



PRINCIPAL OFFICE ADDRESS

Status:

Active

CRA Agent Entity Type:

Registered Agent Type:

Non-Commercial Registered Agent

NV Business ID:

Office or Position:

Jurisdiction:

Street Address:

151 AUGUSTA STREET, HENDERSON, NV, 89074, USA

Email Address:

Mailing Address:

Individual with Authority to Act:

Contact Phone Number:

Fictitious Website or Domain Name:

Address:

Mailing Address:

OFFICER INFORMATION

VIEW HISTORICAL DATA



P a g e 1 o f 1 , r e c o r d s 1 t o 4 o f 4

P a g e 1 o f 1 , r e c o r d s 1 t o 1 o f 1

T i t le N a m e A d d r e s s L a s t U p d a t e d S t a t u s

P r e s i d e n t C L E M E N T M U N E Y 1 5 1 A U G U S T A S T , H E N D E R S O N , N V , 8 9 0 7 4 , U S A 1 0 / 1 4 / 2 0 1 8 A c t i v e

S e c r e t a r y C L E M E N T M U N E Y 1 5 1 A U G U S T A S T , H E N D E R S O N , N V , 8 9 0 7 4 , U S A 1 0 / 1 4 / 2 0 1 8 A c t i v e

T r e a s u r e r C L E M E N T M U N E Y 1 5 1 A U G U S T A S T , H E N D E R S O N , N V , 8 9 0 7 4 , U S A 1 0 / 1 4 / 2 0 1 8 A c t i v e

D i r e c t o r C L E M E N T M U N E Y 1 5 1 A U G U S T A S T , H E N D E R S O N , N V , 8 9 0 7 4 , U S A 1 0 / 1 4 / 2 0 1 8 A c t i v e

CURRENT SHARES

C la s s / S e r i e s T y p e S h a r e N u m be r V a lu e

A u t h o r i z e d 1 , 0 0 0 0 . 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Filing History Name History Mergers/Conversions

Return to Search Return to Results

Number of No Par Value Shares:

0

Total Authorized Capital:

10
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CMOT
Robert Kern, Esq.
Nevada Bar Number 10104
KERN LAW, Ltd.
601 S. 6th Street
Las Vegas, NV 89101
(702) 518-4529 phone
(702) 825-5872 fax
Admin@KernLawOffices.com
Attorney for Defendants

IN THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

 DOMINIQUE ARNOULD,

Plaintiff/Counter-Defendant,
  vs.

CLEMENT MUNEY; CHEF EXEC 
SUPPLIERS, LLC; and DOES I through X,
inclusive, and ROE CORPORATIONS I 
through X, inclusive,

Defendants/Counter-Claimants.

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

 Case Number: A-19-803488-B

 Dept. Number: 27

DEFENDANTS' OPPOSITION TO
MOTION FOR PARTIAL SUMMARY

JUDGMENT AND COUNTER-MOTION
FOR ENFORCEMENT OF

SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

COME NOW Defendants, CLEMENT MUNEY, (hereinafter “Muney”), and CHEF 

EXEC SUPPLIERS, LLC (hereinafter, “CHEFEXEC”) by and through their undersigned 

counsel Robert Kern, ESQ., of KERN LAW, Ltd. submit this Opposition to Motion for 

Partial Summary Judgment and Counter-Motion for Enforcement of Settlement Agreement. 

This motion is made pursuant to NRCP 56, and is based on the signed material terms of the 

settlement agreement, the records and files of this case, the attached memorandum and 

exhibits and any matters adduced at the hearing.  

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The company Chef Exec LLC was formed by Clement Muney and Dominique 

Arnould in 2007 for the purpose of selling imported and domestic goods to other businesses,
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3/20/2020 6:31 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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with Muney handling the securing of supply contracts and the Las Vegas portion of the 

business, and Arnould handling the accounting and the Los Angeles side of the business. 

Chefexec has no operating agreement in place. Chefexec operated smoothly and profitably 

for its entire existence until Arnould announced that he wished to retire. The first significant

disputes between the partners did not occur until Arnould became frustrated that Muney 

would not offer the buyout amount that he wanted, and was, upon information and belief, 

unable to sell his interest in the company at a price he considered acceptable. 

During the time that a buyout of Arnould was being discussed, the lease on the 

company's Los Angeles warehouse came up for renewal, which required a personal 

guarantee from both partners. Arnould renewed it in both of their names; Muney and 

Arnould dispute whether Muney authorized Arnould to do so. Soon after, the lease on the 

Las Vegas warehouse came up for renewal, and like the LA warehouse, the renewal 

required a personal guarantee by both owners of the company. Muney asked for Arnould's 

permission to renew the lease, and Arnould refused. Arnould, through his attorney at the 

time, suggested that Muney lease the warehouse with a company that he owned entirely (so 

that he would be the only owner required to guarantee the warehouse), and have that 

company sub-lease the space to Chefexec (See Exhibit 1). Muney followed that advice, and 

a separate company leased the space, and sub-leased it to Chefexec, at a rate that Muney 

was advised was the standard rate for such storage in the area (See Exhibit 2). Muney has 

not received any notice or allegations of having “taken money and diverted business 

opportunities and customers” from Chefexec, beyond this warehouse lease. 

Although the present dispute has arisen over the last year, a review of Chefexec 

business records shows that its profits drastically increased in 2019 over the previous year, 

and that it is operating effectively, despite the dispute (See Exhibit 3). 

On February 7, 2020, the Parties met for a settlement conference mediated by Judge 

Williams, in which Arnould proposed terms of settlement which were accepted by Muney 

(See Exhibit 4). The Parties spent additional hours at that conference to establish an 

2

AKC
Highlight

AKC
Highlight

AKC
Highlight



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

agreement of all material terms to ensure that the settlement agreement would be 

enforceable (See Exhibit 5). In the agreement, it was agreed that Arnould would purchase 

Muney's portion of the business for $700,000 plus half the value of Company inventory, 

half the bank accounts, and half of the accounts receivable. It was agreed that prior to 

completion of the sale, parties would not take inventory out of the Las Vegas Warehouse, 

and would go about their normal course of business. The agreement was contingent upon 

Arnould securing financing, which he agreed to seek financing in “good faith” “from all 

reasonable sources.” It was also agreed that Arnould would be given a key to the Las Vegas 

Warehouse, which Muney agreed to because of the terms blocking the taking of inventory.

At the meeting to count inventory, Arnould brought a truck driver from LA to take 

inventory out of the Las Vegas warehouse. Muney objected, but in the spirit of 

consummating the transaction, did not declare a breach at that time. However a few days 

later, Arnould secretly used his access to take additional inventory, far in excess of the 

normal course of business, and did not disclose this to Muney. This is known only because 

of video surveillance (See Exhibit 6). Muney protested and demanded that such actions halt.

On February 26, 2020, Arnould's counsel informed Muney's counsel by phone that Arnould 

was having difficulty obtaining financing, and asked if Muney would be amenable to 

changing the terms to allow for financing to be more likely. Muney responded that he would

be flexible in timing and method, but not as to amount, and also asked to see what efforts 

were being made to seek financing. Arnould's counsel agreed to send evidence of the efforts

made the next day, but did not. Two weeks later on March 11, having received no further 

communication, Muney requested an update. Arnould's counsel apologized for the delay 

and asked what information was requested, and Muney indicated that we wanted evidence 

of what efforts were being made, and what terms/collateral were being offered. Two days 

later, without any further communication, Arnould filed the present motion for summary 

judgment. At no time did Arnould follow up on what modifications that Muney would be 

open to to allow obtaining financing to be easier. At no time prior to filing for summary 
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judgment did Arnould provide any information on what efforts were being made. After 

demand by Muney, once the motion had been served, Arnould provided his evidence of 

efforts to secure financing (See Exhibit 71). The 'evidence' showed emails regarding four 

potential transactions. None indicated a flat denial, one stated that the loan would be 

possible if broken up over time, while another stated that the loan would be possible with 

real estate collateral such as a home lien. On March 16, Muney formally declared Arnould 

in breach of the settlement agreement terms. 

MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

The primary reason that summary judgment can not be granted is because of the 

presence of a settlement agreement that is dispositive of all claims. The enforcement of the 

agreement itself will be fully discussed in the attached counter-motion to enforce settlement.

The secondary issue is that there are multiple issues of fact precluding summary judgment. 

Plaintiff calls the motion one for partial summary judgment, yet seeks the entire remedy 

from the whole case (dissolution and distribution). However no distribution and dissolution 

can occur without first adjudicating the counterclaims, and Plaintiff's sole cause of action 

for Breach of Fiduciary Duty. As this court has already ruled the breach claim to have 

genuine issues of material fact, and the allegations of the counterclaims have not even been 

addressed, Plaintiff can not satisfy Rule 56. 

A. Summary Judgment Standard

1 Four items were provided:
1 - “CITI BANK” - A short email chain asking about financing. The lender initially 
indicates he would have to fill out a formal application (Feb 21), after which the email 
shows Arnould requesting to make such an application on March 6. There are no 
communications indicating the result of that application. 
2 - “CITY NATIONAL BANK” - A single email in which the lender requests more 
information. 
3 - “WELLS FARGO” - An email chain where the lender indicates that they can offer 
financing, but they will want real estate collateral, to which Arnould responds asking if 
that means they wont lend to him. There is no answer provided.
4 - “WESTRIDGE” - A single email that states they are not approved for the full amount,
but could offer the loan if Muney is willing to accept incremental payments. 
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Summary judgment is appropriate when, as a matter of law, there is no 

genuine issue as to any material fact.  NRCP 56(c); Prostack v. Songailo, 97 Nev. 38, 40, 

623 P.2d 978 (1981). Summary judgment is particularly inappropriate at this time, as there 

is an enforceable settlement agreement in place, precluding any action to move forward with

the case, and as this Court has already ruled, the issues surrounding the breach of fiduciary 

duty claim could not be resolved on summary judgment because they involve questions of 

material fact.2 

B. There is an Enforceable Settlement Agreement in Place.

A motion for summary judgment is not appropriate when a case has been settled. 

NRCP Rule 56 requires a showing that the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of 

law. Although the final agreement had not yet been signed, the material terms that was 

signed is fully enforceable under Nevada law. In May v. Anderson, the Nevada Supreme 

Court made clear that "because a settlement contract is formed when the parties have agreed

to its material terms, even though the exact language is finalized later, a party's refusal to 

later execute a release document after agreeing upon the release's essential terms does not 

render the settlement agreement invalid." May v. Anderson, 119 P. 3d 1254 (NV S.Ct. 

2005). As the settlement agreement called for mutual waiver of all claims, and both parties 

signed the agreement and agreed it would be binding, there are no claims that Arnould can 

claim entitlement to judgment upon. 

Arnould's motion gives no explanation as to why the settlement agreement should not be 

binding upon him, nor requests this Court to make such a finding. As such a finding is 

required prior to any consideration of a motion for summary judgment, and Arnould has not 

requested such a finding, the motion must be denied. 

2 01/10/2020 Order Denying Summary Judgment, p.1.
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C. The Circumstances do not Meet the Standard for Judicial Dissolution or 

Appointment of a Receiver.

 A review of the evidence makes clear that dissolution of the company was Arnould's

goal even prior to any alleged wrongdoing by Muney. See Exhibit 13 (Letters demanding 

dissolution sent on July 25 and August 7; Arnould stated he first became aware of the new 

lease on October 1). As Arnould wants to be bought out at better terms than what he was 

able to negotiate through proper channels, he is seeking to manufacture a dispute to allow 

him to more profitably cash out. See Exhibit 8 (June 26 email from Arnould asking for 

company to be split). 

Nevada law only allows judicial dissolution and appointment of a receiver as an 

extreme remedy of last resort, when there is no other remedy at law. Further, it is only 

available when continued operation of the LLC's business is “no longer reasonably 

practicable.” NRS 86.495. The fact that settlement was agreed to by both parties makes 

clear that there are other remedies available other than dissolution. While Nevada courts 

have not established a more thorough definition of “reasonably practicable, looking to 

Delaware courts, as Nevada Courts typically do for issues of corporate law4, we see that the 

business must be without any reasonable ability to carry on. The Delaware Court of 

Chancery explained::
Dissolution of an entity chartered for a broad business purpose remains 
possible upon a strong showing that a confluence of situationally specific 
adverse financial, market, product, managerial, or corporate governance 
circumstances make it nihilistic for the entity to continue" 

Matter of Arrow Inv. Advisors, LLC, 2009 WL 1101682, *2 (Del. Ch. 2009). That court 

went on to explain that as a remedy of last resort, judicial dissolution and receivership is not

3Previous attorney Gershuni on July 25 “...the process which I previously proposed, which 
is a dissolution of the LLC...”; Current attorneys on August 7: “The purpose of this letter is 
to notify you that we have been retained to dissolve the Company. The dissolution will 
occur in one of two ways: (l)the parties will either work together to obtain a speedy and 
amicable dissolution internally, which will be much more cost efficient; or (2) we will 
unilaterally seek to dissolve the Company by judicial action whereby the terms of such 
dissolution will be decided under Nevada law.” “If we do not receive a written response 
from you by this date, we will initiate judicial action to dissolve the Company as set forth 
herein.
4 Brown v. Kinross Gold USA, Inc., 531 F. Supp. 2d 1234  (D. Nevada 2008).
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appropriate as a response to allegations of breaches of fiduciary duty, and was so deficient 

as to warrant dismissal: 
Here, Hamman has failed to allege that Arrow is not operating in 
accordance with the broad purposes set forth in its LLC agreement. 
Moreover, I will not entertain a claim for dissolution premised on 
unproven breaches of fiduciary duty. Dissolution is an extreme remedy to 
be applied only when it is not longer reasonably practicable for the 
company to operate in accordance with its founding documents, not as a 
response to fiduciary or contractual violations for which more appropriate 
and proportional relief is available.

Id. Just as in that case, Plaintiff has pled a pretextual breach of fiduciary duty (as shown 

above), and demanded an extreme remedy of last resort from this Court. Bedore v. 

Familian, 125 P. 3d 1168 (Nev: Supreme Court 2006); (Where taking excess salary and 

usurping corporate opportunity was alleged, receivership and dissolution not warranted); 

Gottier’s Furniture, LLC v. La Pointe, No. CV040084606S, 2007 WL 1600021 (Conn. 

Super. May 16, 2007); (declining defendant member’s request to appoint receiver to wind 

up affairs of LLC inasmuch as defendant member had misappropriated LLC funds and had 

unclean hands, and, alternatively, because dissolution receivership is extraordinary remedy 

that is not warranted merely based on dissension of members or financial difficulty).

It is clear from the law that in order to demand receivership and dissolution, Plaintiff

must plead and prove that the business is no longer able to effectively operate. Plaintiff has 

not pled facts to support such an allegation, nor can he. Business records of the company 

show that this year, the year of the present dispute, ChefExec is making 73% more profit 

than it did the previous year. See Exhibit 3. This is possible despite disagreements because 

Muney and Arnould have always each run their own city's branch of the company. Thus 

while they may disagree, and such disagreements may cause issues, they do not prevent the 

company from operating. 

D. Significant Issues of Fact Still Remain

Even beyond the fact that summary judgment is unavailable when an enforceable 

settlement is in place, there are significant issues of fact remaining in the litigation. First and
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most obviously, this Court declared in its order of January 10, that summary judgment is 

unavailable for the claim of breach of fiduciary duty because there are genuine issues of 

fact5.  

Further, Arnould's motion does not even address Muney's counterclaims. Although 

Arnould indicates that it is a motion for partial summary judgment, the fact remains that a 

proper division of the company and settlement of Arnould's claims can not be done without 

also resolving Muney's claims. A review of the evidence and affidavits attached to the 

motion make clear that there is not a single statement alleging to resolve the matters of 

Muney's counterclaims. Under Rule 56, the moving party bears the burden of initially 

showing that there is no issue of fact remaining. Arnould is not capable of doing so without 

so much as mentioning any of the counterclaims, or the facts they rely upon. This is yet 

another reason summary judgment must be denied. 

E. Arnould's Perjury Should Disqualify his Entire Declaration.

In Muney's motion for summary judgment, he pointed out provably false statements 

in Arnould's affidavit. Despite that, Arnould has again made a sworn affidavit to this Court, 

with knowingly, provably false statements. Arnould should not be allowed to lie to this 

Court under oath heedlessly and without consequence. 

Review of the declaration shows the following clear falsehoods:

-Paragraph 4 – Despite Arnould's counsel directly stating in open court at the 

previous motion hearing that Arnould and Muney operate Los Angeles and Las Vegas 

separately, Arnould here testifies to the opposite.

-Paragraphs 9 & 10 – Arnould states that Muney leased the warehouse with his own 

company, and sub-leased it to Chef Exec without any “communication”. This is explicitly 

false. Muney has shown two separate emails from two separate attorneys for Arnould 

specifically suggesting this course of action. Arnould may dispute whether this constitutes 

5 “Summary Judgment on the issue of whether Defendant Muney breached fiduciary duties
is denied because there are genuine issues of material fact.”
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consent, but they can not argue that it does not constitute “communication”. This is a 

knowing and explicit falsehood. 

-Paragraph 13 – Arnould stated: “Muney refuses to allow me access to the Las Vegas 

warehouse or treat me like an owner of the Company.” Pursuant to the Settlement Agreement, 

Muney provided Arnould with a key to the new locks on Feb 20, 2020. Exhibit 6 shows 

Arnould's agent entering the warehouse on his own, clearly with his own key. This 

declaration was dated March 12. This is an explicit fabrication. 

III.

CONCLUSION
The present motion was filed while an enforceable settlement agreement, which was 

dispositive of all claims, was still in place, and did so without moving for any action 

regarding the settlement agreement. Further, the request to dissolve the company and 

distribute can not occur without resolving the breach of fiduciary duty claim and the 

counterclaims, all of which have undisputed genuine issues of fact that preclude summary 

judgment. For these reasons summary judgment can not be granted. 

DATED this 20th day of March, 2020

KERN LAW

By: _/s/ Robert Kern /s/______
Robert Kern, Esq.
601 S. 6th Street
Las Vegas, NV  89101
(702) 518-4529
Attorney for Defendants
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COUNTER-MOTION TO ENFORCE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

As discussed above, on February 7, 2020, at a settlement conference, the Parties 

signed a document titled “Memorandum of Material Terms of Agreement” (Exhibit 4). 

Muney hereby moves this Court for an order enforcing the terms of the agreement, and 

reducing the agreement to judgment. 

1 In Nevada Preliminary Settlement Agreements are Enforceable.

The trial court has inherent power to enter a judgment enforcing a settlement:
The power of a trial court to enter a judgment enforcing a settlement 
agreement has its basis in the policy favoring the settlement of disputes and 
the avoidance of costly and time consuming litigation. (Citations omitted.) To
effectuate this policy, the power of a trial court to enforce a settlement 
agreement has been upheld even where the agreement has not been arrived at 
in the presence of the court nor reduced in writing. (Citations omitted.)

Kukla v. National Distillers Products Company, 43 F. 2d 619 at 621 (6th Cir. 1973). That 

Court also clarified that summary enforcement is proper when there is no dispute as to the 

material terms of the agreement. The Nevada Supreme Court confirmed this in May v. 

Anderson, where they made clear that "because a settlement contract is formed when the 

parties have agreed to its material terms, even though the exact language is finalized later, a 

party's refusal to later execute a release document after agreeing upon the release's essential 

terms does not render the settlement agreement invalid." May v. Anderson, 119 P. 3d 1254 

(NV S.Ct. 2005). The Court explained: “Because a settlement agreement is a contract, its 

construction and enforcement are governed by principles of contract law. . . .  A contract 

can be formed, however, when the parties have agreed to the material terms, even though 

the contract's exact language is not finalized until later.” (Id. At 1257). Further, DCR 16 and

EDCR 7.50 directly state that a settlement agreement in writing that is signed by both 

parties is enforceable6. 

 2. The Signed Agreement in This Matter Satisfies Requirements to be 

Enforceable.

6 “No agreement or stipulation between the parties or their attorneys will be effective 
unless the same shall, by consent, be entered in the minutes in the form of an order, or 
unless the same is in writing subscribed by the party against whom the same shall be 
alleged”
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In order to be enforceable, the agreement must contain all material terms, must be in 

writing, and must be signed by the party it is to be enforced against. Review of the 

agreement shows that, in signing it, the Parties specifically agreed that it would be 

enforceable (“It is understood that this agreement shall be binding upon the parties until the 

final agreement is signed.”), and that it contained all material terms (“The parties agree that 

this agreement contains all terms that are material to the agreement.”). The agreement 

specified the parties, specifically identified what assets were being transferred, and what 

price was being paid, a timeframe, a mutual release, a non-compete and non-disparagement 

agreement, agreements to maintain the status quo prior to final sale, and the mechanism for 

dispute resolution within the agreement. The agreement is unquestionably in writing, and it 

is clearly signed by both parties. There is no real question as to whether the agreement is 

enforceable, but only whether a bank's refusal to grant Arnould a loan without any collateral

offered somehow satisfies Arnould's duty use best efforts to seek financing in good faith. 

3 Arnould Failed his Duty to use Good Faith and Best Efforts to Seek Financing.

The sole contingency of the agreement was that it was conditional upon Arnould 

obtaining financing, which he would be “required to use good faith towards seeking to 

obtain financing from all reasonable sources.” It is this contingency Arnould now hopes to 

use to get out of the agreement. The requirement to use good faith in seeking financing was 

specifically negotiated, and Muney specifically rejected language proposed by Arnould that 

the determination of what “good faith” entailed would be “In Arnould's sole discretion.” 

(See Exhibit 9, Early Draft). Such negotiations make clear that the requirement to seek 

financing in good faith from all available sources was intended to be a substantive 

requirement of the agreement. 

  Although Nevada courts have not provided significant guidance on the subject of 

what the standard of “good faith” requires in such context, Nevada courts frequently look to 

Delaware courts, who have analyzed this issue. The Court of Chancery in Hexion reviewed 

this question, first finding that the terms “good faith” and “reasonable best efforts” to be 

equivalent in a contract. HEXION SPEC. CHEMICALS, INC. v. Huntsman Corp., 965 A. 2d

715 at 721 (Del. Ct of Chancery 2008). That Court analyzed what was required of a party 

who agreed to make “best efforts” at obtaining financing, and concluded that “to the extent 

that an act was both commercially reasonable and advisable to enhance the likelihood of 

11
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consummation of the financing, the onus was on Hexion to take that act.” Id. At 749. The 

Court explained that in order to justify failure to obtain financing, the party would have to; 

“show that there were no viable options it could exercise to allow it to perform without 

disastrous financial consequences.” Id. At 755. The Court went on to state that the bound 

party, of finding difficulty complying with the requirement to seek financing, was required 

to communicate with the opposing party to attempt to seek resolution, and that failure to do 

so was likewise a breach. Id. At 750 (“But Hexion did nothing to approach Huntsman 

management, either to discuss ways the solvency problems might be addressed, or even to 

put Huntsman on notice of its concerns. This choice alone would be sufficient to find that 

Hexion had knowingly and intentionally breached its covenants.”). 

Holding Arnould's efforts against this standard, it is clear that they are insufficient. 

First, and most obviously, none of the four communications showed a flat denial (Exhibit 

7), the worst stated that a formal application would need to be filled out, and others either 

requested more information (which there is no evidence was ever provided), requested 

collateral, or requested that the loan be broken up over time. Talking to four lenders without

getting a definite answer from any does not indicate that he sought financing from “all 

reasonable sources”. More importantly, no reasonable person expects to borrow 

$700,000.00 without providing any collateral. Arnould owns multiple homes; he may not 

wish to encumber them, but absent a showing of disastrous financial consequences to 

providing such collateral, he must take such reasonable steps. 

Further, by the standards of the Hexion Court above, Arnould's failure to 

communicate with Muney to seek resolution of his 'difficulties' with financing is itself prima

facie evidence of bad faith. This is shown by the fact that Muney offered flexibility in terms,

including such terms as requested by one of the lenders, and instead of investigating such 

options, and Arnould filed a motion for summary judgment prior to making any effort at all 

to pursue them. In fact, as far as Arnould has shown, he has not even made the effort to 

reply to emails from lenders asking for more information. It is thus clear that Arnould failed

his duty of good faith under the agreement, and can not be excused from the contract by his 

own malfeasance. 

4 Arnould Used Muney's Compliance to Wrongfully Take Mechandise.

12
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As part of the settlement agreement, Arnould insisted upon being given the key to 

the Las Vegas warehouse. Muney agreed only because of the inclusion of the language 

stating that he was not to take inventory from the warehouse during the agreement7. Despite 

this agreement, at the meeting to count inventory, Arnould brought a truck driver from LA 

to take inventory out of the Las Vegas warehouse. Muney objected, but in the spirit of 

consummating the transaction, did not declare a breach at that time. However a few days 

later, Arnould secretly used his access to take additional inventory, far in excess of the 

normal course of business, and did not disclose this to Muney. This is known only because 

of video surveillance (Exhibit 6). This inventory had significant monetary value and 

contained inventory essential for the Las Vegas operation. In this way Arnould used Muney 

providing him the key, according to the agreement, to enrich his side of the business while 

breaching the same agreement. 

5 The Settlement Agreement Should be Enforced and Reduced to Judgment.

The entire goal of the present litigation was for Arnould to seek division of company

assets between the Parties. The terms of the settlement agreement are fully enforceable, and 

as they are the terms the parties themselves agreed to, are an objectively equitable method 

of dividing interests and resolving the present matter. No third party analysis could divide 

interests more appropriately than the agreement of the parties themselves, and there is no 

reason to waste judicial resources, expert fees, and attorneys fees litigating this matter when 

an enforceable and agreed-to resolution is already in place. 

Muney therefore requests that this court reduce the settlement agreement to 

judgment by its existing terms, and conclude the present litigation. 

DATED this 20th day of March, 2020

KERN LAW

By: _/s/ Robert Kern /s/______
Robert Kern, Esq.
601 S. 6th Street
Las Vegas, NV  89101
(702) 518-4529
Attorney for Defendants

7 “Both parties agree that neither will incur any extraordinary expenses or take any items 
out of the warehouse between February 7, 2020, and the completion of the final Sale of 
the Company.”
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

            I hereby certify that on the 20th day of March 2020, I served a true and correct copy 

of the foregoing OPPOSITION TO MOTION FOR PARTIAL SUMMARY 

JUDGMENT AND COUNTER-MOTION FOR ENFORCEMENT OF 

SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT, pursuant to NRCP 56, by electronic service, addressed to

the following:

 

Phillip S. Aurbach, Esq.
Marquis Aurbach Coffing
Paurbach@Maclaw.com
Counsel for Dominique Arnould

Alexander Callaway
Marquis Aurbach Coffing
acalaway@maclaw.com
Counsel for Dominique Arnould

                           /s/ Robert Kern                                                                                                            

Employee of Kern Law
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ALBERT G. MARQUIS 
PHILLIPS. AURBACH 

AVECE M. H IGBEE 
TERRY A. COFFING 

SCOTT A . MARQU IS 
JACK CHEN M IN JUAN 
CRAIG R. ANDERSON 
TERRY A. MOORE 

GERALDINE TOM ICH 
N ICHOLAS D . CROSBY 
M ICAH S. ECI-IOLS 
TYE S. HANSEEN 
LIANEK. WAKAYAMA 

DAVID G. ALLEMAN 
CODY S. MOUNTEER 
CHAD F. CLEMENT 

CHR ISTIAN T. BALDUCCI 

JARED M. MOSER 
JONATHAN B. LEE 
M ICHAEL D . MAUPIN 
PATR ICK C. M CDONNELL 
KATHLEEN A. W ILDE 

JACKIE V. N ICHOLS 
RACHELS. TYGRET 
JORDAN B. PEEL 
TOM W. STEWART 
JAMES A. BECKSTROM 
EM ILY D. ANDERSON 

COLLIN M. JAYNE 

JOHN M. SACCO 
LANCE C. EARL 
WILLIAM P. WR IGHT 

TROY R. D ICKERSON 
BRIAN R. HARDY 
Or COUNSEL 

August 7, 2019 

MARQVIS AURBACH 
COFFING 

Via Email and Regular Mail 

Clement Muney 
151 Augusta St. 
Henderson, NV 89074 
clement@chefexecsuppliers.com 

Re: CHEF EXEC SUPPLIERS, LLC - Dissolution 

Our File No. 15755-001 

Dear Mr. Muney: 

D IRECT LINE: (702) 207-6086 
D IRECT FAX: (702) 856-8986 
EMAIL: JPEEL@ MACLAW.COM 

Our firm represents Dominique Arnould ("Dominique") with respect to CHEF 
EXEC SUPPLIERS, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company (the "Company"), in which 
you and Dominique are both Managing Members each owning fifty percent (50%) of the 
total membership interests in the Company. The purpose of this letter is to notify you that 
we have been retained to dissolve the Company. The dissolution will occur in one of two 
ways: (l)the parties wi ll either work together to obtain a speedy and amicable dissolution 
internally, which will be much more cost efficient; or (2) we will unilaterally seek to 
dissolve the Company by judicial action whereby the terms of such dissolution will be 
decided under Nevada law. It is Dominique's desire to dissolve the Company internally 
and amicably; however, if that is not possible, we are prepared to initiate judicial action. 

If judicial action is required, the district court will dissolve the Company in 
accordance with the requirements set forth in Nevada Revised Statutes ("NRS") Chapter 
86, which are as follows: (1) the Company's liabilities will be paid in the following order 
(a) to the Company's creditors (accounts payable, leasehold interests, and other general 
Company debt), and (b) to the Company's members in the amount of their capital 
contributions; and (2) the Company's assets will be distributed to the members in 
accordance with the percentage of their respective ownership interest. Please note that a 
comi-ordered dissolution, under Nevada law, will not require any member to be bound by 
obligations of non-competition, non-solicitation of suppliers or customers, or any other 
restrictive covenant. Instead, it will be a simple and straightforward payment of debts and 
division of assets. 

As a result of the foregoing, Dominique will not agree to dissolution terms that 
require the parties to be bound by terms and conditions that are more restrictive than what 
the parties would otherwise obtain by court action (e.g., non-competition and non­
solicitation covenants). In any event, distribution to Dominique of his respective share of 
the Company's assets would not even constitute separate consideration for any such 
covenants, thus rendering them unenforceable. Continuing to demand that the parties 
agree to such unnecessary restrictions will force us to seek a court-ordered dissolution 
under Nevada law, as set forth above, and only cause both parties to incur court costs and 

10001 Park Run Drive • Las Vegas, NV 89 145 • Phone 702.382 .0711 • Fax 702.382.5816 • maclaw.com 
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Clement Muney 
August 7, 2019 
Page 2 

legal fees unnecessarily. To that end, it is proposed that the parties agree to an amicable dissolution based 
on the following terms and conditions: 

1. Liabilities. The Company's debts and creditors are to be paid in full. 

2. Las Vegas Lease. The lease cannot be renewed and must expire in September 2019. If 
any party desires to enter into a new lease at this location, that party must do so on its own accord­
meaning, that party must form a new entity to enter into a new lease and shall not use or purport to use the 
other party as a guarantor. 

3. Los Angeles Lease. Either (a) terminate the lease and buy out the remaining term from 
the landlord using Company funds , or (b) if any party desires to enter into a new lease at this location, that 
party must do so on its own accord-meaning, that party must form a new entity to enter into a new lease 
and shall not use or purport to use the other party as a guarantor. 

4. Accounts Receivable. Both parties shall actively pursue collection of all the Company's 
accounts receivable. The proceeds of such collection shall be divided equally, i.e., 50-50, between the 
parties. 

5. Sales Commissions. The sales commissions earned by but not paid to the applicable sales 
representative shall be paid to such representative in the Company's ordinary course of calculating and 
paying such commissions. 

6. Assets. The Company's remammg assets (cash, equipment and inventory) shall be 
divided equally, i.e., 50-50, between the parties either in cash or in kind. Formal appraisals will be 
obtained to determine the value of any asset that is not mutually agreed upon by the parties, the cost of 
which would necessarily reduce the amount ofremaining assets available for distribution. 

Please respond to this letter in writing no later than 3 :00 p.rn. Nevada time on August 14, 2019. If 
we do not receive a written response from you by this date, we will initiate judicial action to dissolve the 
Company as set forth herein. Please also note that our client reserves all of his rights with respect to the 
Company and his membership interest therein, none of which are waived. Thank you in advance for your 
prompt attention to this urgent matter. 

Sincerely, 

MARQUIS AURBACH COFFING 

Jordan~: 
JBP:jbp 
cc: Client 

MAC:15755-0013807100_3817/2019 2:53 PM 
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Re: Chef Exec Suppliers LLC

Robert Kern
Fri 12/6/2019 12:58 PM

From: Gregory Gershuni <ggershuni@aol.com>
Subject: Re: Chef Exec Suppliers LLC
Date: July 25, 2019 at 2:15:44 PM PDT
To: clement@chefexecsuppliers.com
Cc: dominique@chefexecsuppliers.com, domiarnould@yahoo.com

Dear Clement,

Thanks for your reply.

You ask about the effect of the operating agreement. Please provide me with a
fully executed (i.e., signed by both you and Dominique) copy of the operating
agreement and I can then review it and give you my comments in response to
your questions.

I agree that selecting an appraiser should be a relatively simple process.  I also
believe that you and Dominique would be agreeable to your respective interests
in the company being valued at 50% of the appraised value of all assets, tangible
and intangible. However, to carry out the process which I previously proposed,
which is a dissolution of the LLC and winding up of its affairs, with the physical
assets being allocated between you both according to the appraiser's valuation
after all liabilities are satisfied, going forward should be simple. It is my
understanding that each of you would be entitled to 50% of the inventory in each
location and each of you would be entitled to 50% of the equipment in each
location. Ultimately the two of you might agree on some variations in this regard,
but if we can memorialize the fundamental terms of this dissolution, we can then
get on with the process of selecting an appraiser. 

As for your concern regarding the Las Vegas lease renewal in September, I will
recommend that you form a new entity to be the lessee to take over the Las
Vegas lease when it comes up for renewal in September. You would be the sole
member of that new entity (or perhaps partner with someone else?) and
Dominique, not being a principal of your new entity, would not be required to sign
the new Las Vegas lease.

Would you like me to draft the proposed dissolution agreement? Please let me
know ASAP.

Kindest personal regards,

Gregory Gershuni
Gregory Gershuni
Attorney at Law
THE GERSHUNI LAW FIRM

mailto:ggershuni@aol.com
mailto:clement@chefexecsuppliers.com
mailto:dominique@chefexecsuppliers.com
mailto:domiarnould@yahoo.com
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11377 West Olympic Blvd., Suite 521
Los Angeles, California 90064
(310) 474-6300 Office
(310) 344-2075 Cell
www.GershuniLaw.com
Integrity is Everything
 

This message is intended only for the use of the entity to which it is addressed, and may contain information that is
privileged, confidential. If the reader of this message is not the intended recipient, or an employee or agent

responsible for delivery of the message to the intended recipient, you are hereby notified that any dissemination,
distribution or copying of this communication is strictly prohibited. If you have received this communication in error,

please notify us immediately.

-----Original Message-----
From: Clement Muney <clement@chefexecsuppliers.com>
To: Gregory Gershuni <ggershuni@aol.com>
Cc: Clement Chef Exec <clement@chefexecsuppliers.com>; dominique <dominique@chefexecsuppliers.com>;
domiarnould@yahoo.com <domiarnould@yahoo.com>
Sent: Wed, Jul 24, 2019 6:34 pm
Subject: Re: Chef Exec Suppliers LLC

Gregory, 

Thank you for your email. To go forward, I think I need a be�er understanding of the situa�on.
Can you tell me, does the opera�ng agreement allow for unilateral dissolu�on on Dominique’s part? Does it allow
him to sell his vo�ng interest in the company to another party without my consent? I’m just wondering where
the contracts stand on all this.
 
Regardless of those answers, I think if we can agree on a selec�on method for an appraiser, and Dominique will
accept the appraised value of 50% (represen�ng his half of the company) of the total cost value of all inventory
and the appraised value of physical assets, then we will have an agreement. 
 
I do have another concern however, which is that the Las Vegas lease comes up for renewal in September. They
will likely not allow renewal without signature from all principals of the company. What do you propose we do
there?

Sincerely yours

Clement
 

On Jul 24, 2019, at 3:40 PM, Gregory Gershuni <ggershuni@aol.com> wrote:

Dear Clement,

It's been a couple of days since I last wrote to you. Kindly afford me the
courtesy of a reply.

Kindest personal regards,

Gregory Gershuni
Gregory Gershuni
Attorney at Law
THE GERSHUNI LAW FIRM
11377 West Olympic Blvd., Suite 521
Los Angeles, California 90064

http://www.gershunilaw.com/
mailto:clement@chefexecsuppliers.com
mailto:ggershuni@aol.com
mailto:clement@chefexecsuppliers.com
mailto:dominique@chefexecsuppliers.com
mailto:domiarnould@yahoo.com
mailto:domiarnould@yahoo.com
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Fwd: PROPERTY LEASE RATES

clement MUNEY
Tue 10/15/2019 4:30 PM
To:  Robert Kern <robert@kernlawoffices.com>
Cc:  clement MUNEY <cmuney1@yahoo.com>; Jeremy Muney <jeremymuney@yahoo.com>

FYI

I took this quote 
we have 7745 sqft ware house *1.25$ = 9681.25
+ Cam=1210$

So a total opf $10,891.25 per month

I am billing $10,790 per month with CMJJ Gourmet Inc. to Chef Exec Suppliers LLC

Begin forwarded message:

From: GENE PROCTOR <proctorsnogamble@gmail.com>
Subject: Re: PROPERTY LEASE RATES
Date: August 14, 2019 at 6:53:09 PM PDT
To: Clement Muney <clement@chefexecsuppliers.com>

The rate with cams would increase to $11,280.

On Wed, Aug 14, 2019 at 3:50 PM Clement Muney <clement@chefexecsuppliers.com> wrote:
Hello Gene,

Thank you for your email

With the “cam” like we have right now with Chef Exec Suppliers LLC, on our warehouse on Quail that you know, what total price would
we looking at please all included on a month to month?

Thank you for your help

Clement Muney
(702) 340 8697
Sent from my iPhone

mailto:proctorsnogamble@gmail.com
mailto:clement@chefexecsuppliers.com
mailto:clement@chefexecsuppliers.com


On Aug 14, 2019, at 15:43, GENE PROCTOR <proctorsnogamble@gmail.com> wrote:

Clement,

The industrial property inventory is quite limited in Las Vegas right now. The per square foot rate increased 30% last year.
The 8,000 square foot space you inquired about leases for $1.00 psf but there is a 25% premium for a month to month
lease bringing the rate to $1.25 psf or a total of $10,000 per month. Let me know if you have any other questions.
-- 

Gene Proctor Jr.
Licensed Since 1998
Commercial Leasing Specialist
"Proctor's No Gamble"
proctorsnogamble@gmail.com
Coldwell Banker Premier
8290 W. Sahara Ave., Suite 100
Las Vegas, NV 89117
Cell 702.762-0917

-- 

Gene Proctor Jr.
Licensed Since 1998
Commercial Leasing Specialist
"Proctor's No Gamble"
proctorsnogamble@gmail.com
Coldwell Banker Premier
8290 W. Sahara Ave., Suite 100
Las Vegas, NV 89117
Cell 702.762-0917

mailto:proctorsnogamble@gmail.com
mailto:proctorsnogamble@gmail.com
https://www.google.com/maps/search/8290+W.+Sahara+Ave.,+Suite+100+Las+Vegas,+NV+89117?entry=gmail&source=g
https://www.google.com/maps/search/8290+W.+Sahara+Ave.,+Suite+100+Las+Vegas,+NV+89117?entry=gmail&source=g
mailto:proctorsnogamble@gmail.com
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Jan 1 - Dec 4, 19 Jan 1 - Dec 4, 18 $ Change % Change

Ordinary Income/Expense
Income 1,088,025.66 985,138.84 102,886.82 10.4%

Cost of Goods Sold 422,067.21 455,053.29 -32,986.08 -7.3%

Gross Profit 665,958.45 530,085.55 135,872.90 25.6%

Expense 348,089.31 346,616.08 1,473.23 0.4%

Net Ordinary Income 317,869.14 183,469.47 134,399.67 73.3%

Other Income/Expense 3.31 0.00 3.31 100.0%

Net Income 317,872.45 183,469.47 134,402.98 73.3%

1:20 PM CHEF EXEC SUPPLIERS, LLC
12/04/19 Profit & Loss Prev Year Comparison
Accrual Basis January 1 through December 4, 2019

Page 1
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Memorandum of Matrerial Terms of Agreement

Febnrany 7,2020

This agreement puts forth the material terms rclf the settlement agreement reached between the

parties at Judicial Settlement Conference held,on this date. The final written agreement to be

drafted at a later time.

The parties agree that this agreement contains iall terms that are material to the agreement.

This agreement is between Dominique ArnouLLJ and Clement Muney, (the parties) currently each

a50Yo owner in the company Chef Exec Suppliers, LLC (the Company). It is understood that this

agreement shall be binding upon the parties until the final agreement is signed.

The Parties agree that Dominique Arnould willbuy out the interest of Clement Muney in the

Company, for the amount of $700,000.00, to be paid within 45 days from the execution of the

final agreement (the Sale).

In addition to the Sale price, Clement Muney r,vill be paid% of the bank account on the date of
closing of the sale,Yz of the inventory at cost value on the closing date of the sale, and Yz of the

accounts receivable as they are owed to the Clompany.

Assets being sold are:

-All names and logos including but not limitod to trademarks, logo of Chef Exec,LLC,, and all

intellectual property

-All website domain names and codes includinLg but not limited to, chefexecsuppliers.com or any

other similar names or affiliates

-All equipment including, but not limited to lbrklifts, pallet jacks, Mercedes truck,

manufacturing molds, manufacturing tooling, racks, shelving, tools, delivery systems, computers

including employee computers, errnployee ph,ones, monitors, hardware, docking systems, ladders,

step-ladders, packaging materials, rolling carts,, scales, software, and copy-machines. Clement

Muney and Jeremy Muney's personal mobile phones and computers are excluded but both will
pay back the value at an agreed upon price.

-All accounts including but not limited to UP'S, PaypaI, checking, savings, Tempus,

Commonwealth, and all usernames and passrvords required for sign-in

-A11 insurance policies

-All company EtN numbers

- All UPC Codes



-All phone and fax numbers including but not limited to employee numbers, and fax numbers,
and Clement Muney shall cooperate in providing Arnould with Arnould's cell Phone Number
within 7 days of the settlement conference 7Cl2-683-2433. However, Clement Muney and his son
may retain their current cell phone and home p'hone numbers.

-All CES Price lists, catalogs, logos, and all sales materials

-All Customer lists

-All Supplier and vendor lists

Paris Saveur logo may be used by Arnould until current and already ordered inventory is used
up.

Once the Sale is completed, Clement Muney u,ill be bound by a non-compete agreement
prohibiting him from doing any business direcrtly or indirectly that competes with the business of
the Company, within Nevada, California, Hawaii, New York, Missouri, and Illinois for three and

a half (3.5) years following the date of the agreement. This non-compete also includes non-
solicitation of any current or potential custonre,rs of the Company. No party may disparage the
Company, Employees, or either party.All sales inquiries will be forwarded to Dominque
Arnould as soon as they are received. Howeverr, the non-compete does not include CMJJ
Gormet's current lines of products which will be specified later in a final agreement.

This agreement shall be contingent upon:

--Dominique Arnould being able to obtain financing sufficient to allow him to pay the
purchase price of the Sale, with the unclerstanding that he will be required to use good

faith towards seeking to obtain such finLancing from all reasonable sources

-- Dominique Arnould agrees to assurn,e the lease of the Las Vegas warehouse that is

currently held by CMJJ Gourmet, Inc", subject to approval by the landlord and subject to

Dominique Arnould's approval of the lease terms, which will not uffeasonably be

withheld.

-- All parties mutually waive all claims upon execution of the final agreement

It is further agreed that the sale price of $700,0t00.00 shall be discounted by the amount of profits
(amount received minus cost of the leased sprace) that the company CMJJ Gourmet, Inc. has

received from Chef Exec, LLC for storage in the Las Vegas Warehouse

Both parties agree that neither will incur any e:rtraordinary expenses or take any items out of the

warehouse between February 7,2020, and the completion of the final Sale of the Company.

Inventory shall be set for a date as soon as Arnould finds available, and Muney will give Arnould
the key to the Las Vegas warehouse at that time. Sergio, Clement Muney, and Dominique

Arnould shall conduct an inventory in the next 10 days. Both parties shall have full access to all



Company financial records in order to be aware of such expenditures, and each shall have the
right to bring the dispute to the settlement judge if the Parties do not agree whether an expense

was extraordinary or not in the ordinary course. If a settlement conference does not resolve this
issue, the Parties shall have the issue decided by Judge Allf.

All business will be conducted as usual without interference by the other party.

The parties further agree that Dominique Arnould shall indemnifr Clement Muney for any
y may have under the Los Angeles warehouse lease between the present and the

Uz-"
Clement Muney

Clement Muney date

Domini
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AFFIDAVIT OF ATTORNEY ROBERT KERN

I, Robert Kern, make this Declaration of my own personal knowledge and under the penalty of 

perjury pursuant to NRS 53.045.

1. I am a duly licensed practising attorney in the State of Nevada, County of Clark, 

maintaining offices at 601 S. 6th Street, Las Vegas, Nevada 89101, and represent Defendants in the 

above-entitled matter.

2. I attended a settlement conference of the Parties on February 7, 2020.

3. At the conference, the parties reached agreement before noon, but stayed hours later in 

order to put together an agreement with sufficient terms so as to be enforceable on its own. 

4. During negotiation, Arnould proposed language allowing him to have sole discretion as 

to whether he has taken sufficient efforts to get financing. To support this, he assured us that the 

financing would essentially be automatic, and getting it wouldn't be in question. We nonetheless 

refused the language, as it was our intention that Arnould be held to a definite good faith standard and 

not be allowed to slip out of the agreement if he changed his mind, simply by alleging he didn't find 

financing. 

5. When I spoke to Arnould's counsel on the phone, I explicitly indicated that we were 

open to adjusting payment terms for more time, or essentially anything other than the amount of 

payment. They never initiated communication again on the subject prior to filing for summary 

judgment. 

I declare under penalty of perjury the foregoing is true and correct to the best of my knowledge.

DATED this 20th day of March, 2020.

KERN LAW

By: ___/s/ Robert Kern_______ _______________
Robert Kern, Esq.
NV Bar #10104
601 S. 6th Street
Las Vegas, NV 89101
(702) 518-4529
Attorney for Defendants
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Re: Buy-out/assets division

Robert Kern
Fri 12/6/2019 1:58 PM

-----Original Message-----
From: Dominique Arnould <domiarnould@aol.com>
To: clement <clement@chefexecsuppliers.com>; ggershuni <ggershuni@aol.com>
Sent: Wed, Jun 26, 2019 5:05 pm
Subject: Buy-out/assets division

Hello Gregory and Clement,

I strongly disagree with Clement's characterization of the facts. 

However, there is no good purpose to be served by picking at each point with which I disagree. That will
only lead to more arguments.

Instead, I would like to move forward with a plan to arrange for Clement to buy-out of my interest in the
Company at a fair value or a division of the assets of the Company in some fair and equitable way such
that each of us has roughly equivalent value of assets and we can then each use those assets to pursue on
our own respective business goals.  I can go my own way and Clement can then go his own way.

That's what I would like to do.  

Gregory, can you help us achieve this goal?

Sincerely

Dominique Arnould
Managing Partner
Chef Exec Suppliers, LLC
AAA Food Source, INC
Wines of the World.Com
702-683-2433

mailto:domiarnould@aol.com
mailto:clement@chefexecsuppliers.com
mailto:ggershuni@aol.com
http://world.com/
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Memorandum of Material Terms of Agreement

February 7, 2020

This agreement puts forth the material terms of the settlement agreement reached between the 
parties at Judicial Settlement Conference held on this date. The final written agreement to be 
drafted at a later time.

The parties agree that this agreement contains all terms that are material to the agreement.

This agreement is between Dominique Arnould and Clement Muney, (the parties) currently each 
a 50% owner in the company Chef Exec Suppliers, LLC (the Company). It is understood that this
agreement shall be binding upon the parties until the final agreement is signed. 

The Parties agree that Dominique Arnould will buy out the interest of Clement Muney in the 
Company, for the amount of $700,000.00, to be paid within 45 days from the execution of the 
final agreement (the Sale).

In addition to the Sale price, Clement Muney will be paid the appraised value of 50% of 
Company receivables, inventory, bank accounts, and equipment (including molds), after the Sale 
½ of the bank account on the date of closing of the sale, ½ of the inventory at cost value on the 
closing date of the sale, and ½ of the accounts receivable as they are owed to the Company. 

Assets being sold are:

-All names and logos including but not limited toName, trademarks, and logo of Chef Exec, 
LLC, logo of Paris Saveur, and all intellectual property

-All wWebsite domain names and codes including but not limited to, chefexecsuppliers.com or 
any other similar names or affiliatesand code

-All equipment including, but not limited to forklifts, pallet jacks, Mercedes truck, 
manufacturing molds, manufacturing tooling, racks, shelving, tools, delivery systems, computers 
including employee computers, employee phones, monitors, hardware, docking systems, ladders,
step-ladders, packaging materials, rolling carts, scales, software, and copy-machines

-All accounts including but not limited to UPS, Fedex, Paypal, checking, savings, Tempus, 
Commonwealth,  and all usernames and passwords required for sign-inaccount

-All insurance policiesPaypal account and password

-All company EIN numbers 

- All UPC Codes



-All pPhone and fax nNumbers including but not limited to employee numbers, and fax numbers,
and Clement Muney shall cooperate in providing Arnould with Arnould’s cell Phone Number 
within 7 days of the settlement conference 702-683-2433. However, Clement Muney and his son 
may retain their current cell phone numbers. 

-All CES Price lists, catalogs, logos, and all sales materials and logos

-All Customer lists

-All SupplieSupplier r and vendor lists

Once the Sale is completed, Clement Muney will be bound by a non-compete agreement 
prohibiting him from doing any business directly or indirectly that competes with the business of
the Company, within Las Vegas, Nevada, or Los Angeles, California, Hawaii, New York and 
Illinois for three and a half (3.5) years following the date of the agreement. This non-compete 
also includes non-solicitation of any current or potential customers of the Company. No party 
may disparage the Company, Employees, or either party. All sales inquiries will be forwarded to 
Dominque Arnould as soon as they are received. 

This agreement shall be contingent upon: 

--Dominique Arnould being able to obtain financing sufficient to allow him to pay the 
purchase price of the Sale, with the understanding that he will be required to use good 
faith and all efforts towards seeking to obtain such financing from all reasonable sources 
in Arnould’s sole discretion. 

-- Dominique Arnould agrees to assume the lease of the Las Vegas warehouse that is 
currently held by CMJJ Gourmet, Inc., subject to approval by the landlord and subject to 
Dominique Arnould’s approval of the lease terms.

It is further agreed that the sale price of $700,000.00 shall be discounted by the amount of profits
(amount received minus cost of the leased space) that the company CMJJ Gourmet, Inc. has 
received from Chef Exec, LLC for storage in the Las Vegas Warehouse.

Dominique Arnould agrees to assume the lease of the Las Vegas warehouse that is currently held
by CMJJ Gourmet, Inc., subject to approval by the landlord. If the landlord does not approve the 
assumption, Arnould will pay CMJJ Gourmet funds sufficient to buy out the lease.

Both parties agree that neither will incur any extraordinary expenses or take any items out of the 
warehouse between the presentFebruary 7, 2020, and the completion of the final Sale of the 
Company. Sergio and Dominique Arnould shall conduct an inventory in the next 10 days. Both 



parties shall have full access to all Company financial records in order to be aware of such 
expenditures, and each shall have the right to bring the dispute to mediation the settlement judge 
if either the partyParties do not  does agree whether an expense was extraordinary or not in the 
ordinary course incur such an expense and does not correct it upon demand.  If a settlement 
conference does not resolve this issue, the Parties shall have the issue decided by Judge Allf.

The parties further agree that Dominique Arnould shall indemnify Clement Muney for any 
liability Muney may have under the Los Angeles warehouse lease between the present and the 
end of that lease.

________________________________________________________
Dominique Arnould date

________________________________________________________
Clement Muney date
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TRO
Robert Kern, Esq.
Nevada Bar Number 10104
KERN LAW, Ltd.
601 S. 6th Street
Las Vegas, NV 89101
(702) 518-4529 phone
(702) 825-5872 fax
Admin@KernLawOffices.com
Attorney for Defendants

IN THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

 DOMINIQUE ARNOULD,
                                
                        Plaintiff/Counter-Defendant,
  vs.

CLEMENT MUNEY; CHEF EXEC 
SUPPLIERS, LLC; and DOES I through X,
inclusive, and ROE CORPORATIONS I 
through X, inclusive,

                    Defendants/Counter-Claimants.

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

 Case Number: A-19-803488-B
         
 Dept. Number: 27

 
DEFENDANTS' APPLICATION FOR

TEMPORARY RESTRAINING ORDER
AND MOTION FOR PRELIMINARY

INJUNCTION

HEARING REQUESTED

COME NOW Defendants, CHEF EXEC SUPPLIERS, LLC (hereinafter, “CHEFEXEC”), 

and CLEMENT MUNEY, (hereinafter “Muney”), by and through their undersigned counsel

Robert Kern, ESQ., of KERN LAW, Ltd. submit this Application for Temporary Restrain-

ing Order and Motion for Preliminary Injunction. 

Defendants have been forced to seek emergency injunctive relief because, 

despite the existence of a settlement agreement that required no unusual actions by either 

party1, Arnould has undertaken a campaign to illegally seize control of the company and use

1  “Both parties agree that neither will incur any extraordinary expenses or take any items out of the 

warehouse between February 7, 2020, and the completion of the final Sale of the Company.” (See 

Settlement Agreement, Ex.16)

1

KERN 
LAW, LTD.

601 S. 6th 
Street, Las 
Vegas, NV 

89101
Phone: (702) 
518-4529   

Fax: (702) 825-
5872 

Admin@Kern
LawOffices.co

m

Case Number: A-19-803488-B

Electronically Filed
5/20/2020 2:28 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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such control to extort Muney into acceding to Arnould’s demands before the matter can be 

heard by this Court (See Muney Affidavit, Ex.1). Since the settlement agreement, Arnould 

has done the following:

-Seized all funds of the company and moved them to a new account that Muney and 

the Las Vegas branch have no access to (See Exs.1-3);

-Cancelled the company’s sole credit line (See Muney Affidavit, Ex.1);

-Attempted to remove Muney’s access to the company payal account (See Paypal 

email, Ex.4);

-Stopped paying Las Vegas sales staff, Muney’s other company, and Muney’s son, 

who is owed sales commissions, and owed for his work on the company website 

(See Exs.1, 5, 6, 7);

-Began stealing sales commissions from Las Vegas sales staff (See Commission 

records, Ex.8);

-Hired new sales staff for the LA branch, at a vastly higher salary than all other sales

staff (See Naomie Inouye records, Ex.9);

-Has refused to pay amounts due to the IRS for form 592-V, which is currently due, 

despite such being paid every previous year of the company’s existence (See Form 

592 and CPA email, Ex.10)

-Used the keys he was given as part of the settlement agreement to secretly2 take in-

ventory out of Las Vegas (in violation of the settlement agreement), and store it in a 

new warehouse for which only Arnould has access, and for which the company has 

to pay for every pallet of storage, despite having sufficient space in the LA ware-

2  Muney discovered this through surveillance footage at the warehouse. 

2
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house to store all that material for no additional cost (See Surveillance photos, 

Northstar invoices, Exs.11, 12);

-Spent vastly more money than normal in order to clear out the bank account, pre-

paying LA suppliers and rent on the LA warehouse (spent $56,900 in less than a 

month, of which $30,900 was from Las Vegas customer payments), and did this in 

secret before announcing to Muney that there were no funds to pay Las Vegas ex-

penses (See Payment Records, Ex.13);

-Despite the settlement agreement requiring that all business records be shared, 

Arnould has refused to share records of the company’s dealings with the companies 

Arnould owns, AAA Foodsource and Wines of the World (See Document Requests, 

Ex.14);

-Held checks from customers that would be paid into the company bank account, 

and re-routed them into the new bank account that only Arnould has access to per-

sonally (See Exs.1-3);

-Arnould has admitted to seizing all the funds, to clearing out the previous bank ac-

count, to closing the line of credit, and to doing all of this solely for the purpose of 

preventing Muney and the Las Vegas branch from being able to pay bills and invoic-

es that he does not approve of (See Exs.1-3);

-When Muney demanded that the situation be corrected, and pointed out that 

Arnould has no legal right to unilaterally move around the company’s money, or to 

put the money and inventory into accounts where he has sole access, he provided no 

legal justification, and only demanded that Muney accept his original demands of 

the lawsuit in order to be able to operate the company again (See Exs.1-3);

3
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-Muney informed Arnould and his counsel that an emergency injunction would be 

sought if the funds belonging to the company were not returned to the company ac-

count by close of business on Monday, May 18. They were not. (See Muney De-

mand, Ex.2).

Currently, most of the company’s bills are paid by auto-pay set up in the original 

existing bank account, and that account is the sole source of funds by which Muney can 

pay expenses to continue operating the Las Vegas side of the company. The company cur-

rently has a large shipment of inventory, primarily of items needed by the Las Vegas 

branch, which Arnould was aware of, for which a $9000 deposit has already been paid, and

is waiting upon full payment for delivery (See Yanzhou Shipment, Ex.15). As Arnould has 

emptied the bank account, there are no funds to make payment with, which is damaging the

company’s relationship with its most important supplier. Without this supplier, Chefexec 

would be unable to continue to offer its products at its current low prices (See Muney Affi-

davit, Ex.1). If Arnould is not stopped immediately from this grossly reckless behavior, 

Chefexec will default on its agreements, lose key workers, ruin relationships with key sup-

pliers and customers, and overall suffer significant irreparable damage. Payment for the 

current shipment is already well overdue, customers who do not receive the product that 

they pay for will go to other sellers, and key workers will leave if they are not paid. This 

damage is unquestionably irreparable, and it will happen imminently if Arnould is allowed 

to continue illegally seizing company funds for his own sole access and use.

Arnould was given notice on May 13 that this motion would be filed if the funds 

were not returned to the bank account by Monday, May 18 (See Email, Ex.2). They will be 

provided with electronic notice of this motion contemporaneously with submission to this 

court. Because of the importance and urgency of the matter, Muney asks this court to either

issue a temporary restraining order to return company funds to the company bank account, 

and put all company funds received in the future there as well (in the same manner that has 

been done in the previous years of the company’s operation), and cease all extraordinary 

actions in the management of the business until a hearing can be held on this matter for a 

preliminary injunction. If the Court is unwilling or unable to issue an immediate order 
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without hearing, Muney requests that an emergency hearing be set in the next three (3) 

business days to hear this matter for issuance of a preliminary injunction. 

Pursuant to NRCP 65(b), Petitioner hereby requests a Temporary Restraining Order 

to order Arnould to return company funds to the company bank account, and put all compa-

ny funds received in the future there as well (in the same manner that has been done in the 

previous years of the company’s operation), and cease all extraordinary actions in the man-

agement of the business until a hearing can be held, for 15 days, or until the Motion for Pre-

liminary Injunction can be heard, or in the alternative, Petitioner requests that this Court no-

tice an immediate emergency hearing for a preliminary injunction to order Arnould to return

company funds to the company bank account, and put all company funds received in the fu-

ture there as well (in the same manner that has been done in the previous years of the com-

pany’s operation), and cease all extraordinary actions in the management of the business un-

til the litigation is resolved, or until the Court deems otherwise.

POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

I.
ARGUMENT

For issuance of a preliminary injunction or TRO pursuant to rule 65, Petitioner must

show, in relative order of importance 1) significance of threat of irreparable harm to Peti-

tioner if injunction is not granted; 2) state of balance between this harm and injury that 

granting injunction would inflict on Respondents; and 3) probability that Petitioner will 

succeed on merits. Dellwood Foods, Inc. v. Kraftco Corp., 420 F. Supp. 424; Wright & 

Miller, Federal Practice and Procedure: Civil § 2948 at 430-31 (1973). If the balance of 

hardships leans in Petitioner’s favor, then Petitioner’s requirement to show likelihood of 

success is lessened. Halder v. Avis Rent-A-Car System, Inc., 541 F.2d 130, Slip Op. No. 

977 (2d Cir. 1976); Sonesta Int'l Hotels Corp. v. Wellington Associates, 483 F.2d 247, 250 
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(2d Cir. 1973).  As shown below, both Chefexec and Muney face a clear threat of irrepara-

ble harm, the balance of hardships leans clearly in their favor, they are likely to succeed on 

the merits, and public interest would be served by the issuance of the requested injunction. 

As such, an Injunction should issue. 

A.   The Company Will Suffer Irreparable Harm

The company has been running effectively and profitably for many years, and this 

operation is dependent upon its key workers, its relationships with its suppliers, and its rela-

tionships with its customers. No company can operate without money, yet Arnould’s actions

are intentionally starving the company of funds needed to operate, while Arnould remains 

free to use his sole access to the company money to pay what is necessary for his side of the

operation. Regardless of what damages Arnould may pay later, if the company loses its key 

workers, damages its relationships with its key suppliers, or loses its customers, such mone-

tary damages will not restore the company’s losses (See Muney Affidavit, Ex. 1). 

B.   The Balance of Hardships Leans in Chefexec and Muney’s Favor

Defendants’ hardship is the loss of essential workers, suppliers, and customers due 

to Arnould blocking Chefexec and Muney’s ability to honor the company’s obligations and 

duties to them. This hardship is clear. The hardship that Arnould faces, is to continue to op-

erate the business exactly as it has been operating the rest of its existence, and not take any 

extreme actions relating to the company’s management. Muney is entirely willing to discuss

a plan to adjust operations in relation to the Covid-19 threat, as the 50% partner in the busi-

ness. Arnould has made no attempts to formulate a plan with Muney, he has simply taken 

the money and made demands. Arnould faces no hardship, other than losing the leverage by 

which he is attempting to strong-arm his partner.  Any balancing of burdens must weigh 

heavily in Petitioner’s favor.
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Muney is willing to post a bond as security for the present motion in an amount the 

Court deems appropriate. 

C.   Chefexec and Muney are Likely to Prevail on the Merits

Issuance of a Preliminary Injunction calls for a showing that the moving party is 

likely to succeed on the merits. This does not require that Petitioner prevail against every 

Defendant, nor does it require that Petitioner win on every cause of action, it only requires a

showing of a meritorious claim. 

In the present case, Arnould’s acts of unilaterally taking possession of the company 

funds, and a portion of company inventory, and putting it under accounts to which only 

Arnould has access, are the very definition of conversion (or embezzlement if we were in 

criminal court). The Nevada Supreme Court has explained conversion thus:

Conversion exists where one exerts wrongful dominion over another's per-
sonal property or wrongful interference with the owner's dominion. The act 
constituting "conversion" must be an intentional act, but it does not require 
wrongful intent and is not excused by care, good faith, or lack of knowl-
edge. Conversion does not require a manual taking.

Bader v. Cerri, 609 P. 2d 314, footnote1 (NV S.Ct. 1980). The funds and inventory 

unquestionably belong to Chefexec, and are thus Chefexec’s personal property. As access to

those funds is necessary to the operation of the company, the taking of them equates to an 

interference. The fact that Arnould has no authority to take all the company’s funds 

unilaterally makes the interference wrongful. The fact that Arnould may allege that he is 

acting in good faith (a difficult proposition considering that he has provided no justification 

for his acts) is irrelevant, as all that is required is that his interference in access to the funds 

was intentional, which has already been admitted (See Arnould emails, Ex.2). Nevada 

Courts have specifically held that unauthorized withdrawal of company funds constitutes 

conversion. In re Western World Funding, Inc., 52 BR 743( Bankr. Court, D. Nevada 1985) 

(“The unauthorized withdrawal of funds constitutes the tort of conversion and a breach of 

fiduciary duty. . . Good faith, even if it were shown, is not a defense to a conversion 

action.”); People v. Sisuphan, 181 Cal. App. 4th 800 (Cal: Court of Appeal, 1st Appellate 
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Dist., 3rd Div. 2010)  (“[T]hat the property was never `applied to the embezzler's personal 

use or benefit'" is no defense.”); 18 Am.Jur.2d (2010) Conversion, § 156 [exertion of 

unauthorized control over the property]. While it is possible that Arnould could avoid 

liability for conversion of the funds in question, it is without question that the claim of 

conversion is a meritorious claim. 

CONCLUSION

Pursuant to NRCP 65, and Nevada case law, the grant of a temporary restraining or-

der and/or of a preliminary injunction should be granted if the petitioner shows the immi-

nent threat of irreparable harm, that the balance of hardships weighs in the petitioners favor,

and a likelihood of success on the merits. All factors clearly support the issuance of an in-

junction to return the company funds to their regular account, and to prohibit either partner 

from taking any extreme unilateral action in managing the company, without seeking prior 

approval from this Court. 

WHEREFORE, Petitioner requests that a TEMPORARY RESTRAINING ORDER be 

granted until the motion for a preliminary injunction can be heard, or in the alternative, that

an immediate, emergency hearing be set for issuance of a preliminary injunction. 

Dated this 20th day of May, 2020.
KERN LAW

By: _/s/ Robert Kern /s/______
Robert Kern, Esq.
601 S. 6th Street
Las Vegas, NV  89101
(702) 518-4529
Attorney for Defendants
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

            I hereby certify that on the ___ day of May 2020, I served a true and correct copy of 
the foregoing DEFENDANTS' APPLICATION FOR TEMPORARY RESTRAINING 
ORDER AND MOTION FOR PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION, pursuant to NRCP 65, 
by electronic service, addressed to the following:

 

Phillip S. Aurbach, Esq.
Marquis Aurbach Coffing
Paurbach@Maclaw.com
Counsel for Dominique Arnould

Alexander Callaway
Marquis Aurbach Coffing
acalaway@maclaw.com
Counsel for Dominique Arnould

                         /s/ Robert Kern                                                                                                            

Employee of Kern Law
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From: Alexander K. Calaway 

Sent: Monday, May 18, 2020 8:49 AM 
To: Robert Kern 

Cc: Phillip Aurbach; Jennifer P. Case; Javie-Anne Bauer 
Subject: RE: [External] Response to your client's email [IWOV-iManage.FID1085969] 

Robert, 

Sorry to hear you were under the weather- I hope you get back on your feet soon. Per your May 13th 
email, please be advised that my client has found it necessary for Chef Exec to offload unnecessary 
expenses from the business. 

1. My client will no longer be taking a salary or commission in the coming months in an effort 
to keep the business afloat during these uncertain times; your client will also not be 
receiving disbursements or salaries or commission either. However, commissions to the 
partners will accumulate and will be paid when normal business resumes, other 
commissions to the independent sales representatives will be paid according to the normal 

schedule. 
2. To stop your client from unilaterally over charging Chef Exec $5000/ a month for the L.V. 

warehouse (which my client never agreed to and requested Clement stop doing on several 

occasions, but to no avail), Because of this it has been necessary to open up a new account 
for Chef Exec to operate the business. My client has and will account for all of the 

deposits/withdraws and payments from this account. The bookkeeper is monitoring the 
account per usual. 

3. My client has not been withholding checks from Chef Exec. Arnould has been depositing 
checks into a new account. The bank statement is attached to this email showing all debits 
and credits. Statements will be available upon request. My client fully intends to pay the 
business related expenses for shipments, utilities, etc. as they become due. Please ensure 
your client provides documentation and notice of the same to avoid any late payments. 

4. The Las Vegas warehouse rent must be abated. Arnould was able to secure rent abatement 

for the Los Angeles warehouse, and my client recommends Clement does the same on the 
basis of what the real rent is, which is the amount CMJJ Gourmet pays the landlord. Chef 

Exec cannot afford to pay the L.V. rent. Clement rents the space for about $5500/ month, 
but unilaterally charge the company $10,890. Clement should not have paid the landlord 
rent for March or April. Did he pay the rent so he could receive extra money? 

5. The website fee that Clement's son, Jeremy, keeps charging Chef Exec must stop. Jeremy 
will no longer be paid for these services as they are not necessary and nothing is done to the 
web site to generate more business. To the contrary, my client has expressed concerns that 
the web site no longer looks as attractive as it used to. 

6. Chef Exec will also be terminating Jeremy, effective immediately. Jeremy's sales 
performance has been extremely poor, and my client sees no purpose in keeping a sales 
contractor when there is no business. On top of this, Jeremy's Sales consisted mostly of Web 
related clients, and since that business has dried up indefinitely, Chef Exec no longer needs 
him. 

7. Chef Exec's other sales person, Michelle, will also not be paid her monthly draw, but will 

continue to receive her commissions per usual on her monthly total sales only. She will 
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receive her commission on the 15th of the following month. Clement will need to notify her 

of this as soon as possible to avoid any confusion. Her gas allowance of $100 per month will 
be again allocated to her once the confinement is lifted in Nevada and that she resumes her 

physical visits to her clients. 

8. As for the "major shipment" you refer to in your May 13th email, Arnould has not received 
any communications or documents for this shipment. The transfer for the payment of this 

container has not been made. As for the pending order, Arnould needs the bill of lading, 

invoice, packing list and any documents related to this shipment in order to be able to 
transfer the payment -just has it has been done in the past. Also, please let us know of the 
date of departure and an ETA Long Beach. The documents need to be sent to Chef Exec's 
broker Fernando Crow. Arnould requests your client includes him on communications 
regarding this shipment and any future shipments. My client questions the necessity of this 
shipment at this time and would rather postpone the delivery at a future date when normal 

business has resumed. 
9. To assist the company's finances we request that Clement immediately pays back to the 

company the excess rent he charged for the past seven months, which totals is $35 000 This 
will enable the Company to meet the cost of the expected shipment from China and other 
related expenses. 

Thanks for your time and attention to this matter. 

Alex 

� 
MARQ!JIS AURBACH 

COFFlNG 

Alexander K. Calaway, Esq . 
.1QQQ1_P.<:"iI�_Rl,JJJ _ _Q�i_y� _1.,;:i�V�.9.9�. _Nv _e��-1�-
t I 7.Q2_._2_0.zJme.�. 
f I 7.Q2_._3J.l.V:?�t9. 
acalaway@maclaw.com 

maclaw.com 

� Please consider the environment before printing this e-mail! 

DO NOT read. copy or disseminate this communication unless you are the intended addressee. This e-mail communication contains confidential 
and/or privileged information intended only for the addressee. If you have received this communication in error. please call us (collect) immediately at 

!?P_:n ;i_ll?:9?-11 and ask to speak to the sender of the communication. Also please e-mail the sender and notify the sender immediately that you have 

received the communication in error. Thank you. Marquis Aurbach Golfing - Attorneys at Law 

From: Robert Kern <rg_t?�rJ;@K�_mJ_��9-tfic;:_�?.·.C::Q!1"!> 
Sent: Wednesday, May 13, 2020 2:20 PM 
To: Alexander K. Calaway <_i'!�_�J.i'!W.�Y.@rn?.c;:J.i'!�·-C::Q!T!> 
Cc: Phillip Aurbach <P.��@!T!9-c;:J�w .. _C::Q!T!>; Jennifer P. Case <j�9-��@!T!�S!9-W.·_C::Q!:T!>; Javie-Anne Bauer 

<H??.!-!�X@rn�c;:_l��·.C::Q!T!> 
Subject: RE: [External] Response to your client's email [IWOV-iManage.FID1085969] 



Alex, 
I apologize for the delay in responding, I was sick, and unable to work for a while. 

I'm extremely concerned by your email, in which you admitted that your client has unilaterally seized 

funds belonging to Chefexec, for the admitted purpose of depriving his business partner of use of said 

funds in running the company. I would write a long explanation of how LLCs and partnerships work, but I 
assume that you know all of that already, and know that one partner does not have the authority to just 
seize all the money himself because he's mad at the other partner. We are in litigation that you filed 

regarding the LV warehouse, and the courts, not your client's extortion, should be what determines the 

resolution to that dispute. 

If your client prevails in court, he will certainly be awarded any amounts that the Court agrees 

were wrongfully paid out. However the Las Vegas branch of the company has more expenses than just 
the Las Vegas Warehouse - they have a major shipment from their biggest supplier arriving with 
payment due, an order which Chefexec has already paid a deposit of $9000 towards. Failure to pay for 
already purchased goods, from the primary supplier will cause irreparable injury to the company, as will 
all of the other effects of depriving the Las Vegas branch of the ability to pay its bills. Your client has 
alleged that his measures are due to dangerously low cash flow; if that is the case, then canceling the 
company's sole line of credit is egregious mismanagement, as such a credit line is necessary to keep the 

company afloat in periods of low cash flow. 
Your allegation that Muney is failing to collect from Las Vegas customers is also false - most 

such customers pay by wire. Indeed, the biggest group of Casino and biggest Las Vegas Chef Exec 
customers: MGM Resorts and Caesar Entertainment paid by wire. Arnould used those funds to pay LA 
expenses prior to clearing the account. Looking at the company books, it appears that Arnould spent 
over $30,000 of Las Vegas customers payments received by wire, on LA expenses in the month prior to 
shutting down the account. We will not stand for the company to be destroyed simply because your 
client is having a tantrum. If funds, held by your client, are not returned by close of business Monday 
(May 18), we will be filing for emergency injunctive relief, and will seek attorney's fees for forcing us to 
do so. 

If you wish for a temporary agreement not to pay the full amount of the LV warehouse rent, 
pending the hearing on the upcoming motion, I may be able to get my client onboard. We will not 

however concede the entire dispute to Mr. Arnould's extortion. Please let me know your response. 

Robert Kern, Esq. 

Attorney 
Kern Law, Ltd. 

601 S. 61h Street ------------------------
-��-�-Y.�@?_, __ NY._?_nQ.l: 
L?Q�L�i_?_-_4-_!?_�� - phone 

L?Q�L�?-�---�-�77- - fax 
www.Kernlawoffices.com •·� . . .r.· .•. R

.
e·.view

·

·.·�. ,a�.· 
k'<��-�� . 
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Notice: The information in this transmittal is confidential and may be attorney privileged. If you are not 
the intended recipient, or the agent responsible to deliver it to the intended recipient, you must not 
read, use or disseminate the information. Although this email and any attachments are believed to be 

free of any virus or other defect that might affect any computer into which it is received and opened, it 
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is the responsibility of the recipient to ensure it is virus free, and no responsibility is accepted by Kern 

Law, Ltd. for any loss or damage arising in any way from its use. If you have received this communication 
in error, please immediately notify the sender at QQ�L?.i.?.-.4.��� or by electronic mail 

(Robert@KernLawOffices.com). Thank you. 

From: Alexander K. Calaway 

Sent: Monday, May 4, 2020 11:23 AM 
Subject: Response to your client's email [IWOV-iManage.FID1085969] 

Robert, 

This email is in reference to an April 29, 2020 email that your client sent to my client, Dominique 
Arnould. My client has asked us to respond to your client's email. 

As you know it is our position that: 

1. Muney took on the lease for the Las Vegas warehouse without any agreement, or consultation 
with Arnould; 

2. Instead of charging the current rent payment to the firm, Muney has inflated the rental charge 
and pocketed the difference; 

3. Currently, there is no appreciable business and Arnould canceled the Citibank line of credit 
because he does not trust that Muney would not unilaterally advance the line to pay himself 
rent; 

4. We understand that most of the outstanding receivables due are from Muney's clients in Las 
Vegas, and we have seen no evidence of any serious attempt to collect this money. To make 

matters worse, we believe your ; 
5. Arnould has several checks from customers which he will not put into the bank account unless 

there is an agreement on a budget-- how the money is going to be spent; 
6. To move forward on this matter, we are advising that our client open a new bank account and 

account to your client for the coming in money and money going out; 
7. Arnould will not agree to pay LA or LV rent. Arnould has negotiated a delay in rent payment for 

the LA warehouse and your client should do the same regarding the LV warehouse. 

8. Arnould will not agree to pay your client's son to maintain the website; 
9. Your client owes $35,329.00 from October 1, 2019 to April 1, 2020 for excess rent paid to your 

client. That sum must be put back into the company bank account immediately; 
10. This overall dispute can easily be resolved by, 

a. your client paying my client Yz of the excess rent calculated above; 
b. a simple division of the business with each party taking responsibility for their territory 

(i.e., Dominic will keep LA and Clement taking LV), with an agreement not to compete in 
the other's territory; 

The plan above allows both parties to retain their own customers and warehouse and continue to 
operate only in their areas. Let me know your thoughts because your client's diversion of funds has 
come to an end. 

Alex 
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MARQ1JIS AURBACH 
CO FF ING 

Alexander K. Calaway, Esq. 
10001 Park Run Drive 
Las Vegas, NV 89145 
t I 702.207.6069 

f 1702.382.5816 
acalaway@maclaw.com 

maclaw.com 

� Please consider the environment before printing this e-mail! 

DO NOT read, copy or disseminate this communication unless you are the intended addressee. This e-mail communication contains confidential 
and/or privileged information intended only for the addressee. If you have received this communication in error, please call us (collect) immediately at 

(702) 382-0711 and ask to speak to the sender of the communication. Also please e-mail the sender and notify the sender immediately that you have 

received the communication in error. Thank you. Marquis Aurbach Coffing - Attorneys at Law 

This email has been scanned for spam and viruses by Proofpoint Essentials. Click here to report this 
email as spam. 
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EXHIBIT 4



You removed your phone number from your acc·ount - Message - Mail 

Fn Lock: On . 

CM • - . 

� number from your account 

@yahoo.com> 

From: p1tryg0p!yptl.90rn" <service@oaypal.com> 
Subj ec-t: Yo u rtM<Wtd y our phone n u mber fr om y our aCCCX1nt 
Date: M ,ay 1 7, 2020 IC 7j)3 : 1 & PM PDT 
To: Clement M11n.y q1tgnrftehef!!xecsuppiers.com> 

You removed (7**) ***-8442 from 
your profile 

If you made this diange, great. tf this WIStl't you, we recommend you 
change your paSS'WOC'd immec:Qt.ty for 'f04JI security. 

Having VolW" mobile l'll.Wnber on fia. Mtps us read\ you quictty to ensure 

your account and transactions are MCUl"t. tf you d\ange your mind and want 

to add it bad. that's easy to do in Y'OU" Payhl profile. 

Th.ants for helping us keep your KCOUn.t secure . 

• 

"""'gintlll I - I !!!!!! 

0000 

.,...a1.c.-nac1topr�fr-•11 
1111 Nl'lllll- Ulam m 1-.t1x FN!hl!9, 

f; Reply 



You changed your password - Message - Mail 

Fwd: You changed your password 

• dement MUNEY .:cmuney1@yahoo.c.om> 
S/1812020 :i:16 PM 

To: Rob.rt Ktim 

F rom: < service@oavoa!. oom> 
Subject: You changed your password 
Date: May 17. 2020 at 6: 41:42 PM PDT 
To: CHEF EXEC SUPP UERS <d@menf@chef ex ecsul!diers com> 

Hello. OiU CXECSUPPUCR!i 

Your password changed 

If you didn't change your password, give u.s a call right away at �?:?A:$: 

zm 

Just a reminder: 

Never share your pas.sword or security questions with anyone. 

Create passwords that are hard to guess and don't use pecsonal 

information. Se sure to include uppe r case and lowe«:ase letters, 

number·s, and symbols. 

Use different passwords for each of your online accounts . 

• 

He!p &. oontact I security I 82e,i 

oooc 

""'"'"'• com,.o!Htd lo 11r•.,.nlrfi l1;tudl1l•M , ... atb E1•utl• hem l'�Mri �IW•Vt tonli1h1ylJU' 

111• '*"' tHl!i to l � l 1 fy !!h+1hl'l' 
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EXHIBIT 7



From: Clement Muney clement@chefexecsuppliers.com
Subject: Re: Christmas

Date: December 23, 2019 at 12:31 PM
To: Dominique Arnould dominique@chefexecsuppliers.com
Cc: Clement Chef Exec clement@chefexecsuppliers.com

Hello Dominique,

Once again you seem to forget different things:
Jeremy increased the sales of Reno and therefore deserves a bonus.
You NEVER opened a customer for Chef Exec Suppliers in Reno nor do I believe you’ve ever been to Reno for that. It was Randy 
Thomas Foster who went to Reno and opened Reno as per all the initial invoices in Reno. You wrongfully gave yourself the 
customer (Grand Sierra) without authorization when it should have been a customer on the “house” when the sales rep left.

The purpose of the Christmas present is to thank people who work for us and contribute to raise our sales which is what Jeremy did 
and continues to do.
As per the website, the website was not simply “redesigned.” The website became completely down after the update of our domain 
provider due to the original site being built on a software that was being deprecated. All of a sudden, we had NO website and 
chefexecsuppliers.com was completely blank. Jeremy, in an emergency, managed to recreate the entire website from scratch on the 
new software within two weeks. These two weeks were spent working hours and hours a day, seven days a week, to get it up and 
running for no pay. Realize that we have over one hundred products on our website and over 250 pictures that needed to be 
recreated and reuploaded respectively during these two weeks. I know this because I called to check in everyday. 

Also, please do not forget the speed of our website. As you said in the past, our website used to be very slow before Jeremy took it 
over, until Jeremy reworked our entire website for speed optimization. Here are screenshots from the tool used by professionals for 
website speed comparing our site and Solia, our biggest competitor, with a MUCH bigger web budget than we do of tens of 
thousands of dollars a year at least. Jeremy explained to me that Solia has a dedicated server that costs thousands of dollars alone 
to run and makes them much faster yet our website runs faster without having to use one because of the optimizations made.

mailto:Muneyclement@chefexecsuppliers.com
mailto:Muneyclement@chefexecsuppliers.com
mailto:Arnoulddominique@chefexecsuppliers.com
mailto:Arnoulddominique@chefexecsuppliers.com
mailto:Execclement@chefexecsuppliers.com
mailto:Execclement@chefexecsuppliers.com
http://chefexecsuppliers.com/


 

As for the decrease in sales, you were the one to complain about the digital marketing budget provided on Google Ads, and we 
canceled it against Jeremy’s advice. This digital marketing provided the annual sales you quoted in 2018 and the budget spent on 
the digital marketing must be subtracted from this number so your $11,000 drop is innacurate. If you want more sales on the 
website, that is no problem. Please speak to Jeremy about reinstating our digital marketing budget. 

In addition to this, your 2018 website sales number was inflated by the Chumash casino who stopped buying in 2019. They alone 
were responsible for almost $10,000 in 2018 on the website.

So, Jeremy had to recreate the whole website from scratch and was not paid for that. Don’t forget it.
Did you even offer to pay for that? No.

You mention that we pay Jeremy because he is my son, but on the contrary, we save a lot of money because he is my son and does 
the work that would cost tens of thousands of dollars if done by a third party. 

I implore you to do some research onto the cost of:
-A Brand New Website
-SEO Optimized unique product descriptions for key products and keywords like “ buffet disposable plastic cup” arriving in 1st page 
of Google
-Food Staging, Photography, and Editing of over 200 photos to replace the pictures we were using illegally and were told to cease 
and desist using
-Google Ads Specialist (Of which he is certified by Google)
-Constant Site Maintenance for over two years
-24/7 Website fixing

Any problem we have ever had with the website has been solved within the hour of it being reported to Jeremy. Good luck finding 
service as reliable.

Here are some numbers I’ve found and some articles linked to give you an idea of what I have found after quick google searches.

Food Staging, Photography, and Editing: 15 Images for $2000 for a low experience photographer (We have around 200 
photos) https://foodphotographyblog.com/food-photography-pricing-for-small-clients/

Brand New Ecommerce Capable Website: $3,000-$27,000 FOR CREATION ALONE. Feel free to explore the cost breakdown at 
the provided link: https://www.webfx.com/industries/retail-ecommerce/ecommerce/web-design/

Google AdWords Specialist: AdWords Consultant Rates
"It's common to pay an agency $100 to $200 an hour for services. But most agencies charge a monthly fee for their services, so 
the hourly rate is blended amongst resources.” https://www.jeffalytics.com/google-ads-specialist/

If you can find another potential employee who has near the amount of skills and experience Jeremy has for our website that is 
willing to be paid less than $250 a month as their compensation, please let me know, and I will be more than happy to hire them.

As you know, in today’s day and age, having a professional and functional vendor website is completely neccesary for operation, 
professionalism, and customer trust in a company. I cannot speak for LA, but I know for a fact all of our Vegas and Reno clients use 
the website regularly as a live price list with clear pictures, size descriptions, and search functionality and some customers order 
exclusively on the website.

Outside of his work on the website, Jeremy goes to the casinos at least once a week despite his being a full-time student. Since his 
first visit in June, and actually being in Reno in August, there has been a dramatic increase in sales in Reno:

-Grand Sierra ordered for $3600 in the first half of 2019 before Jeremy’s arrival. The second half of the year after Jeremy began 
visiting the client, sales totaled $7609, an increase of over 100%. In fact, the Pastry Chef told Jeremy recently that they are 

https://foodphotographyblog.com/food-photography-pricing-for-small-clients/
https://www.webfx.com/industries/retail-ecommerce/ecommerce/web-design/
https://www.jeffalytics.com/google-ads-specialist/


visiting the client, sales totaled $7609, an increase of over 100%. In fact, the Pastry Chef told Jeremy recently that they are 
switching to us as their only plastic disposable vendor from now on.

-Peppermill was started by Jeremy in August and has since ordered for $4,156.24. That is over $1000 a month.

Expect orders from Silver Legacy, Circus Circus, and the El Dorado as well as the Atlantis staring early 2020.

Since Jeremy started in Reno, we never paid him any expenses for gas or mileage ! 

I’d also like to remind you that we paid a total of $3,369.87 to your friend Maryann Oletic under the assumption she would make 
sales in New York and she brought us a whopping $0 dollars in sales. In addition to this, you also paid David Levray, who I believe 
you said was your nephew, $2000 in July 2019, for a non-functional, amateur, non-vendor site.

Are you still sure you don’t want to give Jeremy a nice Christmas present? Maybe to pay him for the work he did and that we did not 
pay? Wouldn't it be just fair?
I am sure that you will agree that it will not be fair to take advantage of an over-qualified 21 year old kid, that was not paid so far for 
the incredible work he did for us…

Regards

Clement

On Dec 22, 2019, at 1:12 PM, Dominique Arnould <dominique@chefexecsuppliers.com> wrote:

Clement

I did send Bonus check to Sergio Vero Jhohan and Michelle.

I did not send a check to Jeremy.

The point of a Holiday bonus is to encourage and reward the good performance of a full time collaborator.

Jeremy is a student spending only part time with Chef Exec. He is compensated at the rate of $250.00 per month to animate the 
Web Site and increase it sales.
He also receives commissions on Reno customers, one of which was my customer and which was given to Jeremy without my 
permission.

The sales of the Web site in 2018 when the site was redesigned totaled $20525.73.
The sales of the web site in 2019 after the site was degraded and does not look as attractive as it used to then( I don't really know 
the motivation behind that change)
Totaled $9053.03.

This is a drop of more than $11000.00. These are numbers that hardly call for a reward or  a bonus of any kind. I am sure that you 
will agree with my decision.
It seems as well that the $250.00 spent in the animation of the web site and its on going performance, which we pay Jeremy are 
spent more because he is your son rather than for the management of the site.
I think we should not spend that money and stop this payment as it is obviously non productive and does not bring any increase in 
sales to our company, 
For info, the company will have an approximate increase in sales of 13% this year.

Dominique

On Sun, Dec 22, 2019 at 11:43 AM Clement Muney <clement@chefexecsuppliers.com> wrote:
Hello Dominique,

Can you please just confirmed you sent for Christmas:

Sergio: $800.00
Vero: $800.00
Jhohan: 500.00

Michelle $800 
Jeremy $500

Thank you

Clement

mailto:dominique@chefexecsuppliers.com
mailto:clement@chefexecsuppliers.com


Clement

On Dec 11, 2019, at 4:32 PM, Clement Muney <clement@chefexecsuppliers.com> wrote:

Ok for me

Just don’t forget Michelle $800 
and Jeremy $500 like last year

Thank you

Clement

On Dec 11, 2019, at 2:48 PM, Dominique Arnould <dominique@chefexecsuppliers.com> wrote:

Here is my proposal

Sergio: $800.00
Vero: $800.00
Jhohan: 500.00

On Wed, Dec 11, 2019 at 2:34 PM Clement Muney <clement@chefexecsuppliers.com> wrote:
Hello Dominique,

Do you wish to do $500 for all the persons working for us like last year, or do you want to do a little more since we have 
more profit?

Please let me know what you want to do

Thank you

Clement

-- 
Dominique Arnould
Managing Partner
Chef Exec Suppliers, LLC
AAA FOOD SOURCE, INC
Wines of the World.com
702-683-2433

-- 
Dominique Arnould
Managing Partner
Chef Exec Suppliers, LLC
AAA FOOD SOURCE, INC
Wines of the World.com
702-683-2433

mailto:clement@chefexecsuppliers.com
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Go1l.9le disposable buffet plastic cups Q. 

0. All <J Shopping GJ Images (lID News G Videos : More Settings Tools 

About 4,840,000 results (0.46 seconds) 

Disposable Cups - Chef Exec Suppliers 

https://chefexecsuppliers.com > product-category > disposable-plastic-cups "" 

Disposable Plastic 60cc Mini Pyramid. $0.089 Per Unit Select options · Creative Unique 

Catering Disposable Plastic Bucket Cup for Banquets ... 

Elegant Disposable Plastic Buffet Party Package for 120 Guests 

https://www.amazon.com >Kaya-Collection-Disposable-Plastic-Tumblers"" 

Amazon.com: Elegant Disposable Plastic Buffet Party Package for 120 Guests - Includes 

Fancy Round White Lunch Plates w/Silver Rim, Forks & Plastic Cups ... 

Images for disposable buffet plastic cups 

• 

-7 More images for disposable buffet plastic cups Report images 

Elegant Disposable Plastic Buffet Party Package for 90 Guests 

https://www.amazon.com >Kaya-Collection-Disposable-Plastic-Tumblers "" 

* * * * * Rating: 5 - 1 review 

Buy Elegant Disposable Plastic Buffet Party Package for 90 Guests - Includes Fancy & 

Premium Flared White Lunch Plates, Silver Forks & Plastic Cups - For ... 

Catering Cups and Mini Dishes I solia-usa.com 

https://www.solia-usa.com > catering-plastic-cups-and-mini-dishes "" 

Get the best disposable catering plastic cups, mini dishes and serving bowls with elegant 

designs for your events. Free shipping in USA with all $500 orders. 

Cups, Dessert & Catering I Disposable Catering Supplies ... 

https://www.efavormart.com > collections > cups-dessert-catering "" 

Efavormart's disposable wholesale wedding plastic cups and disposable trays for serving will 

help you to enjoy your party and food without any cleanup. 

Catering Disposables: Plastic Flatware, Trays, Foil Pans 
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EXHIBIT 8



&ƌŽŵ͗��ůĞŵĞŶƚ�DƵŶĞǇ
^ĞŶƚ͗�dƵĞƐĚĂǇ͕�DĂǇ�ϭϮ͕�ϮϬϮϬ�ϰ͗ϯϱ�WD
dŽ͗��ŽŵŝŶŝƋƵĞ��ƌŶŽƵůĚ
�Đ͗��ůĞŵĞŶƚ��ŚĞĨ��ǆĞĐ
^ƵďũĞĐƚ͗�dŚĞĨƚ�ĨƌŽŵ��ůŝĞŶƚ�ĨƌŽŵ�DŝĐŚĞůůĞ

�ŽŵŝŶŝƋƵĞ͕�

�Ɛ�ĂůǁĂǇƐ�ǇŽƵ�ĂƌĞ�ŶŽƚ�ƚĞůůŝŶŐ�ƚŚĞ�ƚƌƵƚŚ͘

/�ŚĂǀĞ�ĂƚƚĂĐŚĞĚ�ƚŚĞ�ƉƌŽŽĨ�ƚŚĂƚ�ǇŽƵ�ĂƌĞ�ŶŽƚ�ƚĞůůŝŶŐ�ƚŚĞ�ƚƌƵƚŚ�ĂŶĚ�ƚŚĂƚ�ǇŽƵ�ǁĂŶƚ�ƚŽ�ƚĂŬĞ�ĂĚǀĂŶƚĂŐĞ�ŽĨ�ƚŚĞ�
ǁŽƌŬ�ŽĨ�ŽƵƌ�ƐĂůĞƐ�ƌĞƉƐ�ŚŽƉŝŶŐ�ƚŚĂƚ�ŶŽďŽĚǇ�ǁŝůů�ŶŽƚŝĐĞ͘

^ĞĞ�ƚŚĞ�ƉƌŽŽĨ�ĂƚƚĂĐŚĞĚ�ĂŶĚ�ďĞůŽǁ͗

&ƌĞŶĐŚ�'ŽƵƌŵĞƚ�ƉůĂĐĞĚ�ƚŚĞŝƌ�ĨŝƌƐƚ�ŽƌĚĞƌ�ŽŶ�ϬϮͬϮϵͬϮϬϭϮ�ĞǀĞŶ�ƚŚŽƵŐŚ�ǇŽƵ�ƐĂǇ�ǇŽƵ͛ǀĞ�ŬŶŽǁŶ�Śŝŵ�ĨŽƌ�ϯϬ�
ǇĞĂƌƐ�ǁŚŝĐŚ�ŵŝŐŚƚ�ďĞ�ƚƌƵĞ�ďƵƚ�ŝƐ�ŶŽƚ�ƌĞůĞǀĂŶƚ͘
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From: Brian Bennington benningtoncpa@hotmail.com
Subject: Chef Exec Suppliers

Date: May 19, 2020 at 3:22 PM
To: dominique@chefexecsuppliers.com
Cc: CLEMENT MUNEY cmuney@cox.net

Hi	Dominique,	

It	was	pointed	out	to	me	that	you	don't	want	Chef	Exec	Suppliers	to	pay	the	California
nonresident	withholding	tax	on	behalf	of	Clement	of	$7,166	for	2019.

Consistent	with	prior	years,	the	company	should	pay	that	and	to	be	equitable,	the	company
would	then	issue	you	a	distribuHon	payment	of	$7,166	too,	as	it	has	in	prior	years.

This	should	be	done	as	soon	as	possible	as	well.

Please	let	me	know	if	you	have	any	quesHons.

Thank	you.

	

Brian	Bennington,	CPA	
Bennington	&	Associates,	Ltd.	
2620	RegaRa	Drive,	Suite	102	
Las	Vegas,	NV	89128	
(702)	240-5200	
(702)	240-5300	Fax

IRS CIRCULAR 230 NOTICE: To ensure compliance with requirements imposed by the IRS, we inform
you that, unless specifically indicated otherwise, any tax advice contained in this communication,
including attachments, was not intended or written to be used, and cannot be used, for the purpose of
(i) avoiding tax-related penalties under the Internal Revenue Code, or (ii) promoting, marketing or
recommending to another party any tax-related matter addressed herein.

C O N F I D E N T I A L
The information in this e-mail is confidential and may be legally privileged. It is intended solely for the
addressee. Access to this e-mail by anyone else is unauthorized. If you are not the intended recipient,
any disclosure, copying, distribution, or any action taken or??failed to be taken in reliance on it, is
prohibited and may be unlawful. When addressed to our clients, any opinions or advice contained in
this e-mail are subject to the terms and conditions expressed in the governing client engagement letter.

mailto:Benningtonbenningtoncpa@hotmail.com
mailto:Benningtonbenningtoncpa@hotmail.com
mailto:dominique@chefexecsuppliers.com
mailto:MUNEYcmuney@cox.net
mailto:MUNEYcmuney@cox.net


SSN or ITIN FEIN CA Corp no. CA SOS file no.

946231  04-01-19

 (check only one box): Total number of payees reported

Do not 

Check the box to indicate how Form 592 was submitted Electronic Paper

Complete voucher using withholding agent information from Form 592, Part I.

DETACH HERE DETACH HERE

mail a paper copy of the electronically filed Form 592 with the payment voucher.
Mailing a paper copy of your electronically filed Form 592 may cause a delay in processing.

For Privacy Notice, get FTB 1131 ENG/SP.

IF NO PAYMENT IS DUE, DO NOT MAIL THIS VOUCHER

TAXABLE YEAR CALIFORNIA FORM

|

Business name

First name

Address (apt./ste, room, PO box, or PMB no.)

City (If you have a foreign address, see instructions.)

Initial Last name Telephone

State ZIP code

Amount of payment

Form 592-V  2018

Payment Voucher for Resident and
Nonresident Withholding2019 592-V

022 1271194

111 111111111 111 1111111 1111 111

   

       X

1X

151 AUGUSTA STREET

HENDERSON NV 89074

7,166.00

CHEF EXEC SUPPLIERS, LLC
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From: Clement Muney clement@chefexecsuppliers.com
Subject: Re: Charges on the Chef Exec account and Northstar access to request for me please

Date: January 22, 2020 at 4:38 PM
To: Dominique Arnould dominique@chefexecsuppliers.com
Cc: Clement Chef Exec clement@chefexecsuppliers.com

Bcc: jeremymuney@gmail.com, robert@kernlawoffices.com

Dear Dominique,

I am asking these questions because of what I see in Quickbooks. Your notes in Quickbooks lack sufficient detail to answer my 
questions.

As for your answers:

I do not deny you access to the warehouse, I only ask that you notify me of what you plan on taking from the Las Vegas warehouse 
before you do so to ensure correct inventory for both Las Vegas and Los Angeles. Given that you have recently taken 3 full trucks 
load of products without any sort of communication, I do not think this is too much to ask.

You have stated that the reason for your pickups is to guarantee sufficient inventory nearby for your Los Angeles customer based on 
demand, but I am confused, as the demand does not match what you have taken according to our records?
Based on the sales in 2019 of your California clients, out of the 53 products you took, only four of the products will be needed in the 
coming 8 or 9 months. Three of the products will be needed in the next 1-3 years. The 46 other products were unnecessarily 
brought to Los Angeles as you have over 3 years worth of inventory. In fact, for the clear fan fan and the clear mini mac and cheese, 
you have over 100 years of inventory at your current rate of California sales of 2019.
Finally, on top of all this, 26 of the products you brought to Los Angeles to ensure you had sufficient stock had 0 sales in 
California in 2019.

Now, due to your taking of inventory in Las Vegas without consulting me, we are running short in several products. For example, you 
have almost all of the inventory for the green mini cube in Los Angeles, and we only sell it in Nevada.
This is urgent and a big problem since, as you know, most of our customers do not want to use green anymore, and we were able to 
convince Caesars to finish our inventory of Green Mini Cubes before switching over to clear. If we do not have the inventory in Las 
Vegas, we will have no choice but to let them switch to clear and be stuck with the remainder of the dead green mini cube inventory. 
This problem could have easily been avoided if you had consulted me prior to moving the dead inventory to Los Angeles under the 
guise that you supposedly need it there although you haven’t sold any in some time in California.
Please send back all the inventory you don’t need ASAP. To clarify, "inventory you don't need," refers to the products where, based 
on current demand and your recent sales in California, you have multiple years worth of stock. In particular, the products we 
currently have large demand for in Las Vegas of which you have dangerously depleted our warehouse's stock. Another one of these 
products, for example, being the clear camelia. You recently took 65 cases of this cup, yet in all of 2019 you only sold 53 cases in 
California. Now we only have 25 cases left in Las Vegas, and, as you know, we sell a lot of this product.

To reiterate, in the future, please send me in advance, what you need for LA. This way we can be sure that both locations have 
sufficient inventory at all times without impairing the operations of the other. I have ok'ed your last two pickups since changing the 
locks, and will of course continue to authorize any and all products you do sell in California as long as the requested amounts are 
reasonable and we are not dangerously depleting our moving inventory in Los Vegas, so please do not say that I am keeping you 
from getting products you need for the company.

 
1- Concerning Naomie Inoue, the accounting below shows that she has only sold for $852.88 in 6 weeks: Only 2 customers in 
December for a total of $682.85
You paid her $1000  on 1/15/2020 when our commission rate is 10% of the sales, and she only earned $68.29 from her sales up to 
January 15th 2020.
You previously asked me to give a minimum with your friend Maryann Oletic as a sales rep, and she did not make a single sale.

Please consult me for all new sales reps and make sure to discuss with me before unilaterally changing our commission payment 
system for sales reps you have hired.

2- You did not post the details of the invoice of Wines Of the World. The only note on the invoice was "gift." I would like to know the 
quantity we bought and the price we paid for each wine please.

3- Can I please have the detailed price breakdown of Yhohan's $332 you are mentioning. How much do we pay him per hour? Gas, 
etc. to come back and forth to Las Vegas.
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etc. to come back and forth to Las Vegas.
Again, please notify me when you plan on sending our driver to Las Vegas so that I can request he bring products we may need 
from Los Angeles and make the rip more cost effective. A good example of this would be the Green Mini cube mentioned above. I 
did not have a chance to ask you to bring the item, since instead you sent Yhohan with an almost empty truck and a request of 
items without notifying me.

Concerning the 3 products you mentioned that I did not authorize and that you did not ask me about beforehand:

-You have over a year’s supply of inventory on the Clear Large Camelia according to 2019 CA sales so there is no need to bring 
those to Los Angeles at the moment.

-Ribbon: You only sold 1 case in CA in 2019. We currently have only 22 cases on hand, and we have sold or shipped out of Las 
Vegas 24 cases in 3 months so we need to keep this inventory in Las Vegas.

- Sphere: You already brought over 15 cases of this item on 12/6/2019 and, without letting me know, you took 294 cases from the 
Las Vegas inventory a few months prior. That's over ten months of inventory, so I don't see the need for more at the moment.

If there is something regarding a coming raise in sales of these items that I don't know about, I would be more than happy to discuss 
it and make sure we have proper inventory ordered to meet the needs of the company in both locations.

Finally I would still like an answer regarding the questions I asked about the thousands of dollars the company has spent with 
Northstar without my knowledge:
“Finally, I would also need you to send me all the invoices you got from Northstar from the beginning including the ones you paid 
personally and for which you paid you back $2,360.93 on 11/26/2019
As well as the one for $1,188 paid 12/2/2019
I would also like to have copy of the contract you signed with them with the fees involved
I would also like the log in in their website to see our inventory they store for us
Could you also tell them and copy me to have full access to all informations regarding what Chef Exec Suppliers is paying ?”

As well as on the Upela Paris charge:
“Could you please also tell me what is Upela Paris written “freight charge" for which we paid by ATM $313.43 1/14/2020?"

Thank you for your help in these matters.

Regards,

Clement

On Jan 21, 2020, at 4:22 PM, Dominique Arnould <dominique@chefexecsuppliers.com> wrote:

Hello Clement

First, I am surprised by your questions since you have access to the quickbooks and can look it up, but the answers to your 
questions are set out below.

Second, why do you continue to deny me access to your warehouse and keep me from getting the products I need for the 
company ?

 

1-- Could you please tell me who is Naomie Inoue for which we paid $1000 commission 1/15/2020?

     She is a new sales rep hired to develop sales in the southern California territory. 

2-- Could you please also tell me the detail of the invoice #1088 from Wine of the World for a total amount of $4,150.20 we paid 
1/17/2020?

     That invoice is for the wines purchased for gifts to our clients and which  was ordered Initially by Michelle and you and which 
was delivered to the Las vegas warehouse 

on friday December 6th

3-  The expenses for Jhohan's pick up in Las Vegas amounts to Approximately $ 332.00 per trip, knowing that the CES van 
capacity is  4 pallets of products. But for this last 

trip since you did not"authorize 3 products to be picked up there was only the amount of 3 pallets loaded.

Hoping this answers your concerns

Dominique

mailto:dominique@chefexecsuppliers.com
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On Tue, Jan 21, 2020 at 10:47 AM Clement Muney <clement@chefexecsuppliers.com> wrote:
Hello Dominique,

Could you please tell me who is Naomie Inoue for which we paid $1000 commission 1/15/2020?

Could you please also tell me the detail of the invoice #1088 from Wine of the World for a total amount of $4,150.20 we paid 
1/17/2020?

Could you please also tell me what is Upela Paris written “freight charge" for which we paid by ATM $313.43 1/14/2020?

I would also like to know how much we pay Yhohan + expenses+ gas to come in Las Vegas when we could use Win 
Distribution or Fedex LTL. 
I sent you yesterday,  the Fedex log in for you to use and I mentioned to negociated price i was able to get.
Indeed roughly we should pay per pallet 75$ + about 23% fuel surcharge with Fedex LTL and we pay about 105$ with Win 
Distribution. I think it would make more sense to stop sending Yhohan in Las Vegas and use Fedex or even Win Distribution 
like we use to.

Finally, I would also need you to send me all the invoices you got from Northstar from the begining including  the ones you paid 
personnally and for which you paid you back $2,360.93 on 11/26/2019
As well as the one for $1,188 paid 12/2/2019 
I would also like to have copy of the contract you signed with them with the fees involved
I would also like the log in in their website to see our inventory they store for us 
Could you also tell them and copy me to have full access to all informations regarding what Chef Exec Suppliers is paying ?

Thank you for your help

Clement MUNEY
Managing Partner of Chef Exec Suppliers LLC
Mailing address:
151 Augusta Street
Henderson Nevada 89074
Cell.: (702) 340 8697
Fax.: (702) 992 9880
Email: clement@chefexecsuppliers.com
www.chefexecsuppliers.com

-- 
Dominique Arnould
Managing Partner
Chef Exec Suppliers, LLC
AAA FOOD SOURCE, INC
Wines of the World.com
702-683-2433

mailto:clement@chefexecsuppliers.com
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EXHIBIT 15



SOLD TO: CE00122
Chef Exec Suppliers LLC N/M

 PO Box 1800 Studio City, CA 91614 CE00122
(702) 683-2433

Shipment by  VESSEL or        On or about 
From:  YANGZHOU   Via       To:   LA BY T/T

ITEM DESCRIPTION Color CTNS Total PCS UNIT PRIEC (USD/PC) TOTAL(USD)
LPM-20130TC MINI WHISKY SHOT GLASS Transparent/透明 200 115200 0.034 3928.32 
LPM-20680TC Medium 3 Edge Transparent 100 100000 0.021 2100.00 
LPM-20140TC RHUM SHOT GLASS TRANSPARENT CRYSTAL Transparent/透明 480 276480 0.034 9427.97 
M-VR61TC MINI CUBE Transparent/透明 160 96000 0.021 2016.00 
SC-NDB01TC MINI ROUND  GLASS Transparent/透明 95 95000 0.018 1710.00 
PLA-052505TC ribbon Transparent 100 30000 0.024 726.00 
PLA-052438NR ASIAN CUP BLACK BLACK黑色 80 48000 0.026 1252.80 
M-VR73TC ROUND SLANTED CUPS Transparent/透明 140 84000 0.035 2940.00 
PLA-052530TC FANFAN TRANSPARENT CLEAR TRANSPARENT 135 116640 0.018 2099.52 
PLA-052539CR LARGE CAMELIA TRANSPARENT 100 72000 0.024 1728.00 

0.00 
1590 1033320 27928.61 

Compensation -868.15
Cargo Freight 40 Feet Container 1850

Remaining Balance 28910.46

BANK DETAILS
Bank Name CHINA CONSTRUCTION BANK,YANGZHOU BRANCH      
Address NO.398 WENCHANG MIDDLE  ROAD,YANGZHOU，JIANGSU，CHINA 
Swift Code PCBCCNBJJSY
Beneficiary YANGZHOU LINGHAI PLASTIC MANUFACTURING CO.,LTD.
A/C NO.: 32014251900220104186

PLASTIC INJECTED ITEMS
Design, Personalization, Presentation, Packing as per Technical Specifications and Samples Sent.
Quantity per reference, unit pricing and packing as per proforma invoice 
FOB YANGZHOU

扬州市凌海塑胶制品有限公司
Yangzhou Linghai Plastic Manufacturing Co.,Ltd.

No3 Road,YiLing Industrial Zone,JiangDu District of Yangzhou City,JiangSu Province of China
TEL：0514-86562099  FAX: 0514-86567599

INVOICE
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Memorandum of Matrerial Terms of Agreement

Febnrany 7,2020

This agreement puts forth the material terms rclf the settlement agreement reached between the

parties at Judicial Settlement Conference held,on this date. The final written agreement to be

drafted at a later time.

The parties agree that this agreement contains iall terms that are material to the agreement.

This agreement is between Dominique ArnouLLJ and Clement Muney, (the parties) currently each

a50Yo owner in the company Chef Exec Suppliers, LLC (the Company). It is understood that this

agreement shall be binding upon the parties until the final agreement is signed.

The Parties agree that Dominique Arnould willbuy out the interest of Clement Muney in the

Company, for the amount of $700,000.00, to be paid within 45 days from the execution of the

final agreement (the Sale).

In addition to the Sale price, Clement Muney r,vill be paid% of the bank account on the date of
closing of the sale,Yz of the inventory at cost value on the closing date of the sale, and Yz of the

accounts receivable as they are owed to the Clompany.

Assets being sold are:

-All names and logos including but not limitod to trademarks, logo of Chef Exec,LLC,, and all

intellectual property

-All website domain names and codes includinLg but not limited to, chefexecsuppliers.com or any

other similar names or affiliates

-All equipment including, but not limited to lbrklifts, pallet jacks, Mercedes truck,

manufacturing molds, manufacturing tooling, racks, shelving, tools, delivery systems, computers

including employee computers, errnployee ph,ones, monitors, hardware, docking systems, ladders,

step-ladders, packaging materials, rolling carts,, scales, software, and copy-machines. Clement

Muney and Jeremy Muney's personal mobile phones and computers are excluded but both will
pay back the value at an agreed upon price.

-All accounts including but not limited to UP'S, PaypaI, checking, savings, Tempus,

Commonwealth, and all usernames and passrvords required for sign-in

-A11 insurance policies

-All company EtN numbers

- All UPC Codes



-All phone and fax numbers including but not limited to employee numbers, and fax numbers,
and Clement Muney shall cooperate in providing Arnould with Arnould's cell Phone Number
within 7 days of the settlement conference 7Cl2-683-2433. However, Clement Muney and his son
may retain their current cell phone and home p'hone numbers.

-All CES Price lists, catalogs, logos, and all sales materials

-All Customer lists

-All Supplier and vendor lists

Paris Saveur logo may be used by Arnould until current and already ordered inventory is used
up.

Once the Sale is completed, Clement Muney u,ill be bound by a non-compete agreement
prohibiting him from doing any business direcrtly or indirectly that competes with the business of
the Company, within Nevada, California, Hawaii, New York, Missouri, and Illinois for three and

a half (3.5) years following the date of the agreement. This non-compete also includes non-
solicitation of any current or potential custonre,rs of the Company. No party may disparage the
Company, Employees, or either party.All sales inquiries will be forwarded to Dominque
Arnould as soon as they are received. Howeverr, the non-compete does not include CMJJ
Gormet's current lines of products which will be specified later in a final agreement.

This agreement shall be contingent upon:

--Dominique Arnould being able to obtain financing sufficient to allow him to pay the
purchase price of the Sale, with the unclerstanding that he will be required to use good

faith towards seeking to obtain such finLancing from all reasonable sources

-- Dominique Arnould agrees to assurn,e the lease of the Las Vegas warehouse that is

currently held by CMJJ Gourmet, Inc", subject to approval by the landlord and subject to

Dominique Arnould's approval of the lease terms, which will not uffeasonably be

withheld.

-- All parties mutually waive all claims upon execution of the final agreement

It is further agreed that the sale price of $700,0t00.00 shall be discounted by the amount of profits
(amount received minus cost of the leased sprace) that the company CMJJ Gourmet, Inc. has

received from Chef Exec, LLC for storage in the Las Vegas Warehouse

Both parties agree that neither will incur any e:rtraordinary expenses or take any items out of the

warehouse between February 7,2020, and the completion of the final Sale of the Company.

Inventory shall be set for a date as soon as Arnould finds available, and Muney will give Arnould
the key to the Las Vegas warehouse at that time. Sergio, Clement Muney, and Dominique

Arnould shall conduct an inventory in the next 10 days. Both parties shall have full access to all



Company financial records in order to be aware of such expenditures, and each shall have the
right to bring the dispute to the settlement judge if the Parties do not agree whether an expense

was extraordinary or not in the ordinary course. If a settlement conference does not resolve this
issue, the Parties shall have the issue decided by Judge Allf.

All business will be conducted as usual without interference by the other party.

The parties further agree that Dominique Arnould shall indemnifr Clement Muney for any
y may have under the Los Angeles warehouse lease between the present and the

Uz-"
Clement Muney

Clement Muney date

Domini
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Robert Kern, Esq. 

Nevada Bar Number 10104 

KERN LAW, Ltd. 
601 S. 6th Street 

Las Vegas, NV 89101 

(702) 518-4529 phone 

(702) 825-5872 fax 

Admin@KernLawOffices.com 

Attorney for Defendants 
 

IN THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT 
 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

 
 DOMINIQUE ARNOULD, 
                                 
                        Plaintiff/Counter-Defendant, 
  vs. 
 
CLEMENT MUNEY; CHEF EXEC 
SUPPLIERS, LLC; and DOES I through X, 
inclusive, and ROE CORPORATIONS I 
through X, inclusive, 
 
                    Defendants/Counter-Claimants. 

 

 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

 
 Case Number: A-19-803488-B 
          
 Dept. Number: 27 
 
  

NOTICE OF ENTRY OF ORDER 
 

 

TO:  ALL INTERESTED PARTIES 

  

 PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the foregoing TEMPORARY RESTRAINING ORDER 

was duly entered, in the above referenced case on May 20, 2020, which is attached hereto. 

 

 DATED this 21st day of May, 2020. 

      

 
KERN LAW 

 
By: _/s/ Robert Kern /s/______  

  Robert Kern, Esq. 
601 S. 6th Street 
Las Vegas, NV  89101 
(702) 518-4529 
Attorney for Defendants 

 

KERN LAW, 

LTD. 
601 S. 6th Street, 

Las Vegas, NV 

89101 

Phone: (702) 

518-4529   Fax: 

(702) 825-5872  

Admin@KernLa

wOffices.com 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Case Number: A-19-803488-B

Electronically Filed
5/21/2020 4:24 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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2 

 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

   

          I hereby certify that on the 21st day of May, 2020, I served a true and correct copy of 

the foregoing Notice of Entry of Order, via Odyssey e-file and service system addressed as 

follows: 

 

Jennifer.jcase@maclaw.com 

Phillip.PSA@maclaw.com 

Javie-Anne.jbauer@maclaw.com 

Alexander.acalaway@maclaw.com 

 
  

       /s/ Melissa Milroy                    

       An employ of Kern Law, LTD. 

mailto:jcase@maclaw.com
mailto:PSA@maclaw.com
mailto:jbauer@maclaw.com
mailto:acalaway@maclaw.com
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Electronically Filed
612012020 4:23 PM
Steven D. Grierson

TRO
Robert Kern, Esq.
Nevada Bar Number 10104
KERN LAW, Ltd.
601 S. 6d Street
Las Vegas, NV 89101
(702) 518-4529 phone
(702) 825-5872fa><
Admin@KernlawOffi ces. com
Attorney for Deferrdants

ItN THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

I

DOMINIQUE A]RNOULD, )

I

Pl ainti fflC ounter-Defendant, )
)

CLEMENT MUITIEY: CHEF EXEC
)
)

SUPPLIERS, LLC; and DOES I through X, )
inclusive, and RO,E CORPORATIONS I )
through X, inclusiive,

Defendants/Counter-Claimants. )
)
I

Good cause being shown, that this Order is necessary to prevent the irreparable injury

caused by the company's inability to continue paying its obligations to workers, customers,

and suppliers, whi,ch would result in loss of those essential relationships, which can not be

replaced or repaired by monetary recovery. The company already has overdue payments and

shipment awaiting final purchase money, as well as workers who need to be paid to contin-

ue to support themLselves, and Plaintiff has refused to return the company money to the com-

pany accounts, thurs serious irreparable injury is imminent absent an order from this Court

returning the company funds to its accounts, allowing its continued operation.

Defendants Chefexec and Muney have notified Plaintiff Arnould that the present ap-

plication for TRO would be filed, and have made every effort to ensure that Arnould was

given notice of the application for this order.

1

Case Number: A-1 9-803488-B

Case Number: A- 1 9-803488-B

Dept. Number:27

TEMPORARY RESTRAINING ORDER

)
)
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Good cause appearing therefore, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Plaintiff Do-

minique Arnould tre ordered to return all funds belonging to Defendant Chef Exec Suppliers

(including depositing all checks made out to Chef Exec) into the original Chef Exec bank

account, and, be re,strained from taking any action to transfer or move company funds out of

their regular accounts, or block, divert, or fail to cause their deposit into the original compa-

ny account, and from taking any actions in the management of the company other than those

necessary for the continued, everyday operations of the company. If there is any question

about what acts may be acceptable, or if there is a necessity for a more unusual act, the par-

ties are to seek agreement among themselves first, and if that fails, may petition this court

on the matter.

This order shall be in effect for fifteen days, or until a hearing on the Motion for Pre-

liminary Injunction can be held, whichever occurs first.

Defendantsi shall provide a surety bond or undertaking in

to be filed with this order.

the amount of $100

IT IS SO OIRDERED.
Dated: Ma'y 20

Respectfully Submitted By:

KERN LAW

Robert Kern, Esq. NV Bar # 10104
601 S. 6'Street
Las Vegas, NV 89101
(702) sr8-4s29
Attorney for Defendants

2020.
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Case Number: A-19-803488-B

Electronically Filed
5/22/2020 9:45 AM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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ORDR 
Marquis Aurbach Coffing 
Phillip S. Aurbach, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 1501 
Alexander K. Calaway. Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 15188 
10001 Park Run Dr. 
Las Vegas, NV 89145  
Telephone: (702) 382-0711 
Facsimile: (702) 382-5816 
paurbach@maclaw.com 
acalaway@maclaw.com 

Attorneys for Plaintiff 
DISTRICT COURT 

 
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

DOMINIQUE ARNOULD, 
 
 

Plaintiff, 
 vs. 
 
CLEMENT MUNEY; CHEF EXEC 
SUPPLIERS, LLC; and DOES I through X, 
inclusive; and ROE CORPORATIONS I through 
X, inclusive, 
 
        Defendants, 

 
And related counterclaims. 

 

 
 
Case No.: A-19-803488-B 
Dept. No.: 27 
 
 

 
 
 

ORDER 

 
 
  

 
This matter came before the Court on May 22, 2020 at 1:00pm, regarding the Defendants’ 

Amended Application for Temporary Restraining Order, Plaintiff’s Counter-Motion to Vacate 

Temporary Restraining Order, Plaintiff’s Motion for Appointment of Trustee, and Defendants’ 

Counter-Motion for Enforcement of Settlement Agreement.  

Having reviewed the papers and pleadings on file herein, arguments of counsel at the time 

of the above identified hearing, being fully advised on the matter, and with good cause appearing 

therefore the Court finds and decides the following: 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

1. Chef Exec Suppliers LLC (the “Company”) is owned in equal shares by Plaintiff 

Dominique Arnould (“Arnould”) and Defendant Clement Muney (“Muney”) (hereinafter 

collectively referred to as the “Parities”).  

Electronically Filed
     06/08/2020

Case Number: A-19-803488-B

ELECTRONICALLY SERVED
6/8/2020 1:30 PM
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2. The Company operates in Nevada and California and it sells its products to 

restaurants, caterers, resorts, hotels, casinos, and others (“Customers”).  

3. On December 10, 2020, Arnould filed a Motion for Appointment of Trustee 

(“Motion for Receiver”) requesting that a receiver be appointed to wind down the Company.    

4. On February 7, 2020, Arnould and Muney attended a settlement conference held 

by Judge Williams, wherein the Parties entered into a Memorandum of Material Terms of 

Agreement (“Memo”).  

5. The terms of the Memo were, among other things, that:  

a. Arnould would buy-out Muney’s interest in the Company for a purchase 

price of $700,000 (“Purchase Price”);     

b. a “final agreement [would] be drafted at a later time;” 

c. the entire Memo “shall be contingent upon . . . Dominique Arnould being 

able to obtain financing sufficient to allow him to pay the purchase price of the Sale;”  

d. that Arnould would  “be required to use good faith towards seeking to obtain 

such financing from all reasonable sources” sufficient for him to pay the entire purchase price.  

6. After February 7, 2020, Arnould made reasonable efforts to obtain financing from 

multiple lenders, but he was formally and informally denied and rejected by the lenders for the 

financing unless he offered outside collateral, which was not required by the express terms set 

forth in the Memo.1    

7. Whether Arnould’s financing efforts were reasonable would ordinarily be a 

question of fact but for the intervening COVID-19 pandemic (“Pandemic”).  However, the Court 

takes Judicial Notice that on March 12, 2020, the Nevada Governor, Steve Sisolak, declared a state 

of emergency in response to the Pandemic and required the closure of non-essential businesses, 

many of which included the Company’s Customers.    

 
1 Declaration in Support of Opposition to Defendants’ Counter-Motion to Enforce Settlement Agreement, 
at ¶¶6-16, on file herein.  
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8. The Court additionally takes Judicial Notice that the pandemic had a severe and 

detrimental impact on the value of the Company and the ability of either Party to perform and 

receive the bargained for consideration under the Memo.  

9. It is undisputed that the Pandemic was an unforeseen event that was not and could 

not have been foreseen by either Party to the Memo. It is unclear how long these detrimental 

impacts and impediments will continue.  

10. On March 20, 2020, Defendants filed their Counter-Motion for Enforcement of 

Settlement Agreement (“Motion for Enforcement”), requesting this Court “reduce the [Memo] to 

judgment by its existing terms, and conclude the present litigation.”   

11. On May 20, 2020, Defendants filed their Amended Application for Temporary 

Restraining Order and Preliminary Injunction (“Application”) under NRCP 65, alleging among 

other things, that injunctive relief is necessary to avoid irreparable harm to the Company.  

12. The Application renewed the issues set forth in Defendants’ Motion for 

Enforcement.  

13. The Application included an affidavit of Clement Muney that averred, among other 

things, that irreparable harm and immediate injury to the Company was imminent.  

14. The Application did not, however, include a certification by the movant’s attorney 

in writing of the efforts made to give notice and the reasons why it should not be required as set 

forth in NRCP 65(b)(1)(B). While there is evidence of some communications between counsel 

regarding the threat of an injunction, there was no certification by counsel in its Application per 

the NRCP 65(b)(1)(B).   

15. Based on Defendant’s Application, the Court issued a Temporary Restraining 

Order and set a hearing for May 22, 2020 to consider fully consider the Application’s merits.  

16. Plaintiff opposed the Application and disputed the Application’s claims of 

irreparable harm and immediate injury to the Company by providing evidence of the lack of 

irreparable harm and immediate injury because damages were an adequate remedy. Plaintiff also 

raised the aforementioned procedural issue under NRCP 65(b)(1)(B).  
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17. Muney’s request for injunctive relief in favor of Defendants’ Application would 

not preserve the status quo, but would allow the Company to keep making payments to Muney 

and Muney’s son.  

18. Plaintiff’s Opposition to the Application and Countermotion to Vacate the 

Temporary Restraining Order renewed its request for the Court to appoint a receiver with limited 

powers. The attorneys for both Parities’ agreed that a receiver should not interrupt the Parties’ 

direct relationships with their Customers if the Company was to remain viable upon the reopening 

of the economy.  

19. Neither Party trusts the other to with the assets or operations of the Company. Thus, 

a receiver with limited powers would allow the expenditures and dealings of the Company to be 

overseen by a neutral third-party without impeding the Company’s ability to carry on its business.  

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

1. Neither party trusts the other to with the assets or operations of the Company. It is 

therefore necessary that a neutral receiver be appointed with limited powers as defined herein.  

2. Arnould obtaining financing was a condition precedent or an event that must occur 

before either party became obligated to perform under the Memo. Prior to Arnould satisfying his 

duty to make reasonable efforts to obtain financing, the Pandemic decimated the economy and any 

hope of the condition being satisfied, rendering the Memo unenforceable.  

3. Moreover, the Pandemic was and is an unforeseen contingency event that changed 

the circumstances surrounding the Memo. The main purpose of the Memo was for Arnould to buy-

out the Company after financing was obtained. This purpose was destroyed by virtue of the 

Pandemic.   

4. The unforeseeable Pandemic event altered the circumstances surrounding the 

Memo such that performance of the condition in the Memo to obtain financing could no longer be 

fulfilled. Thus, the purposes of the financing condition and the Memo have become frustrated, 

thereby discharging the duties arising thereunder.   

5. Injunctive relief is not warranted here because: (1) irreparable harm and immediate 

injury is not present because damages are an adequate remedy; (2) the party seeking injunctive 
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relief is not likely to prevail on the merits of its alleged conversion claim; (3) the relative interests 

of the parties weights against injunctive relief; and (4) public policy does not favor injunctive 

relief.  

6. In addition, Defendants’ Application for injunctive relief failed to provide the 

notice and reasoning required by NRCP 65(b)(1)(B). 

ORDER 

Based upon a full review of the pleadings, evidence, oral arguments of counsel, findings, 

conclusions of law and the powers of the Court:  

1. It is ordered that the Defendants’ Amended Application for Temporary Restraining 

Order is hereby DENIED. 

2. It is further ordered that Defendants’ previously filed Counter-Motion for Enforcement 

of Settlement Agreement is hereby DENIED. 

3. It is further ordered that Plaintiff’s Motion to Vacate Temporary Restraining Order is 

GRANTED and the Temporary Restraining Order entered on May 20, 2020 is hereby 

VACATED. 

4. It is further ordered that Plaintiff’s Motion for Appointment of Trustee or Receiver is 

GRANTED to the extent that a receiver (“Receiver”) with limited powers as defined 

below (“Limited Powers”).  

5. It is further ordered that the Receiver’s role will be to supervise the operations of the 

Company in consultation with Arnould and Muney, to allow them to continue 

operations of the Company, and prepare a report about the viability of the Company.  

6. Pursuant to these Limited Powers, it is further ordered:  

a. The Parties shall grant the Receiver full access to bank accounts, accounts 

receivable and payable, customers’ orders and suppliers’ purchases, as well as 

agreeing to respond in good faith to provide truthful answers and responses to 

any questioning or requests for information from the receiver;  

b. The Receiver shall obtain agreement from the Parties with respect to all 

payments to landlords, suppliers, employees, and independent contractors;  
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c. The Parties shall consult with the Receiver regarding all purchases of new 

inventory to ensure there is a need for the products, bearing in mind the 

downturn in business and the restriction on Company funds;  

d. The Receiver will attempt to obtain agreement of the Parties in respect of the 

operation of the business;  

e. In the event of a disagreement between the Parties, the Receiver will note any 

disagreement between the Parties in his report;   

f. The Receiver will have authority to communicate directly with the Court if 

necessary, after which such communications with the Court will be disclosed 

to the parties via minute order;  

g. Either Party or their attorney may communicate with the Receiver directly;  

h. The Receiver will have the power to recommend the transfer funds between 

accounts for legitimate company purposes; and  

i. The Parties will be required to report to the Receiver any removal of Company 

inventory or other Company items or individual items from the Company 

warehouses. If the removal is to fulfill sales, copies of the documents showing 

which customer ordered what product and the terms of payment will suffice. 

The Parties will also be required to justify any charges on Company credit cards 

or accounts;  

7. It is further ordered that the Receiver will be a person either stipulated to by Arnould 

and Muney, or if no agreement can be reached, then a person chosen by this Court. 

8. It is further ordered that once a Receiver is appointed, the Receiver will be compensated 

by Muney and Arnould each paying ½ of his estimated fees within 10 days of each of 

the Receiver’s request.  

/ / 

/ / 

/ / 
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9. It is further ordered that the Receiver who be appointed will be: 

____________________________________________________________________.  

 

Dated this ___ day of _______________________, 2020. 

       
DISTRICT COURT JUDGE 

 

Respectfully Submitted by: 
 
MARQUIS AURBACH COFFING 
 
 
By:  /s/ Alexander K. Calaway    

Phillip S. Aurbach, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 1501 
Alexander K. Calaway, Esq. 
Nevada Bar. No. 15188 
10001 Park Run Drive    
Las Vegas, Nevada, 89145 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs/Counter- 

Defendants 

 
 

Approved as to form 

 

Dated this 4 day of June, 2020 

 

  

KERN LAW LTD.  

   

   

By:   /s/ Robert Kern Esq.  

 Robert Kern, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 10104 
601 S. 6th St. 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
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Case Number: A-19-803488-B

Electronically Filed
6/5/2020 1:36 PM
Steven D. Grierson
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Marquis Aurbach Coffing 
Phillip S. Aurbach, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 1501 
Alexander K. Calaway. Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 15188 
10001 Park Run Dr. 
Las Vegas, NV 89145  
Telephone: (702) 382-0711 
Facsimile: (702) 382-5816 
paurbach@maclaw.com 
acalaway@maclaw.com 

Attorneys for Plaintiff 
DISTRICT COURT 

 
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

DOMINIQUE ARNOULD, 
 
 

Plaintiff, 
 vs. 
 
CLEMENT MUNEY; CHEF EXEC 
SUPPLIERS, LLC; and DOES I through X, 
inclusive; and ROE CORPORATIONS I through 
X, inclusive, 
 
        Defendants, 

 
And related counterclaims. 

 

 
 
Case No.: A-19-803488-B 
Dept. No.: 27 
 
PLAINTIFF’S EMERGENCY REQUEST 

FOR TELEPHONIC HEARING FOR 
APPOINTMENT OF RECEIVER TO 

TAKE OVER THE WAREHOUSE OR 
FOR ORDER ALLOWING ACCESS 

 
 

Hearing requested on shortened time-by 

telephonic conference  

 
Plaintiff, DOMINIQUE ARNOULD (hereinafter “Arnould” or “Plaintiff”), by and through 

his attorneys, Marquis Aurbach Coffing, requests a telephonic conference today to appoint a 

Receiver to take control of the warehouse storing Chef Exec inventory or in the interim, enter an 

Order that Arnould can drop off inventory from the Los Angeles warehouse and pick up inventory 

from the Las Vegas warehouse—Defendant Muney changed the locks and Arnould has no access. 

This Opposition is made and based upon the pleadings on file herein, the following points 

and authorities, and any argument allowed by the Court at the time of hearing. 

Dated this 10th day of June, 2020. 

MARQUIS AURBACH COFFING 

By  /s/ Phillip S. Aurbach     
Phillip S. Aurbach, Esq., #1501 
Alexander K. Calaway, Esq., #15188 
Attorneys for Plaintiff  

Case Number: A-19-803488-B

Electronically Filed
6/10/2020 9:57 AM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

I. ARNOULD NEEDS ACCESS TODAY TO THE LAS VEGAS WAREHOUSE TO 
PICK UP INVENTORY TO TAKE TO LOS ANGELES FOR CUSTOMERS IN 
LOS ANGELES AND MUNEY WILL NOT ALLOW ACCESS TO CHEF EXEC 
INVENTORY 

1. Last Friday June 5, 2020, Plaintiff, Dominique Arnould, and Defendant, Clement Muney. 

had the following email exchange1: 

Clement 
The warehouse we are currently using at Northstar lost their lease. They have 

asked us to move out. We have 29 pallets stored there which need to be moved 

before June 13. all other pallets have been stored at our location in Van Nuys. 

I could bring them back to our Las Vegas warehouse or rent another space I have 

already identified. 
If we bring that inventory back to Las Vegas, i will need to Bring back some of 

the following products: 
Spheres 
Small Glass 
Round slanted cups. 
What would you like me to do? 
  
Dominique 

 

Muney’s response was “tell me why you need those items.” 

From: Clement Muney <clement@chefexecsuppliers.com> 

To: DOMINIQUE ARNOUD <domiarnould@aol.com> 

Cc: Clement Chef Exec <clement@chefexecsuppliers.com> 

Sent: Fri, Jun 5, 2020 4:26 pm 

Subject: Re: Inventory 

 

Dominique, 

I have no problem to store the products back in Las Vegas that you don’t need in LA. 

I have no problem, as usual, to give what is necessary for LA’s needs, as long as it is 

justified.  

I just want the company to operate normally. 

If there’s anything in Vegas that you end up needing in LA at a later date, we can 

always ask Win distribution to bring you what you need. It just costs 105$ per pallet 

and you would have that in 1 or 2 days. 

Tell me what you need for the coming few months and how you want to proceed. 

Clement Muney 

(702) 340 8697 Sent from my iPhone 

 
1 If Defendant Muney denies this email exchange, we will provide a declaration regarding the same, but 
because of the time constraints, we copied the contents into this pleading. 
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2. Plaintiff Dominique Arnould drove the 12 pallets to Las Vegas to access the warehouse, 

drop off the pallets and pick up the following inventory that he needs for Los Angeles clients: 

Spheres cups: 4 pallets 96 cases 

Small Glass TC: 72 cases 

Umbrella dish: 48 cases 

Round slanted cups: 1 pallet 72 cases 

Rhum Shot: 36 cases 

Espresso cups: 24 cases 

Cubic wave green: 72 cases or 1 pallet 

Cubic wave clear: 30 cases. 

3.   Muney had the locks changed and Arnould cannot access any inventory—drop off or pick 

up. 

4. Arnould is in Las Vegas with the 12 pallets for Muney’s Las Vegas Customers and he 

needs to pick up inventory.   

5. The receiver hearing is not set until July 9, 2020.   

a. A telephone conference is needed today to appoint a receiver to take control of the 

warehouse, log all inventory, control inventory taken out and added so either owner 

has authority to access the inventory, 

b. Alternatively, this Court should enter an Order that either party has access to the 

warehouse and both must document inventory in and inventory out. 

6. In sum, Arnould is in Las Vegas with pallets for the LV warehouse and Muney will not 

allow access for Arnould to pick up inventory for California clients. 

Dated this 10th day of June, 2020. 

MARQUIS AURBACH COFFING 

By  /s/ Phillip S. Aurbach     
Phillip S. Aurbach, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 1501 
Alexander K. Calaway, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 15188 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that the foregoing PLAINTIFF’S EMERGENCY REQUEST FOR 

TELEPHONIC HEARING FOR APPOINTMENT OF RECEIVER TO TAKE OVER THE 

WAREHOUSE OR FOR ORDER ALLOWING ACCESS was submitted electronically for 

filing and/or service with the Eighth Judicial District Court on the 10the day of June, 2020.  

Electronic service of the foregoing document shall be made in accordance with the E-Service List 

as follows:2 

Robert Kern Robert@Kernlawoffices.com 
Melissa Milroy Admin@KernLawOffices.com 

 
 
 

          /s/ Javie-Anne Bauer        
An employee of Marquis Aurbach Coffing 
 

 
2 Pursuant to EDCR 8.05(a), each party who submits an E-Filed document through the E-Filing System 
consents to electronic service in accordance with NRCP 5(b)(2)(D). 
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ORDR 
Marquis Aurbach Coffing 
Phillip S. Aurbach, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 1501 
Alexander K. Calaway. Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 15188 
10001 Park Run Dr. 
Las Vegas, NV 89145  
Telephone: (702) 382-0711 
Facsimile: (702) 382-5816 
paurbach@maclaw.com 
acalaway@maclaw.com 

Attorneys for Plaintiff 
DISTRICT COURT 

 
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

DOMINIQUE ARNOULD, 
 
 

Plaintiff, 
 vs. 
 
CLEMENT MUNEY; CHEF EXEC 
SUPPLIERS, LLC; and DOES I through X, 
inclusive; and ROE CORPORATIONS I through 
X, inclusive, 
 
        Defendants, 

 
And related counterclaims. 

 

 
 
Case No.: A-19-803488-B 
Dept. No.: 27 
 
 

 
 
 

ORDER 

 
This matter came before the Court on June 12, 2020 at 12:30pm, regarding the Plaintiff’s 

Motion to Select Receiver (the “Motion”) and Plaintiff’s Emergency Request For Telephonic 

Hearing For Appointment of Receiver To Take Over the Warehouse Or For the Order Allowing 

Access (the “Emergency Request”).  

Having reviewed the papers and pleadings on file herein, arguments of counsel at the time 

of the above identified hearing, being fully advised on the matter, and with good cause appearing 

therefore the Court finds and decides the following: 

1. On May 22, 2020 this Court requested that the Parties provide this Court with their 

suggestions as to who could serve as a court-appointed receiver in this matter.  

Electronically Filed
     06/12/2020

Case Number: A-19-803488-B

ELECTRONICALLY SERVED
6/12/2020 4:35 PM
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2. After considering both parties suggestions, the Court finds Larry L. Bertsch to be 

suitable to serve as the court-appointed receiver (“Receiver”), consistent with the powers set forth 

in this Court’s previous June 8, 2020 order regarding the appointment of a receiver.  

3. Also, consistent with this Court’s June 8, 2020 order, the Receiver will be 

compensated by Clement Muney (“Muney”) and Dominque Arnould (“Arnould”) each paying ½ 

of his estimated fees within 10 days of the Receiver’s request. 

4. The Court also finds that despite the fact that Muney and Arnould are each 50% 

owners of Chef Exec Suppliers, LLC (“Company”), Muney changed the locks to the warehouse 

located at 3655 West Quail Ave, Las Vegas, Nevada (“Nevada Warehouse”), which currently 

stores Company inventory.  

5. The Court also finds that Muney refused to allow Arnould access to the Nevada 

Warehouse to obtain the Company inventory.  

6. The Court also finds that Muney’s actions have required further monitoring of the 

Nevada Warehouse so that the Company can continue to fulfill the needs of its customers.  

ORDER 

Based upon a full review of the pleadings, evidence, oral arguments of counsel, findings, 

conclusions of law and the powers of the Court:  

1. It is ordered that Defendants immediately provide Plaintiff access to the Nevada 

Warehouse.  

2. It is further ordered that Clement Muney hire and pay for security to monitor the 

Nevada Warehouse when Plaintiff accesses the same.  

3. It is further ordered that the Receiver change the locks on the Nevada Warehouse so 

that all parties can have access to the same with the consent of the Receiver.   

IT IS SO ORDERED. 

Dated this ___ day of _______________________, 2020. 

       
DISTRICT COURT JUDGE 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

Page 3 of 3 
MAC:15755-001 ORDER regarding June 12 2020 Motion to Select Reciever 6/12/2020 4:07 PM 

M
A

R
Q

U
IS

 A
U

R
B

A
C

H
 C

O
F

F
IN

G
 

1
0
0
0

1
 P

ar
k
 R

u
n

 D
ri

v
e 

L
as

 V
eg

as
, 

N
ev

ad
a 

 8
9

1
4
5

 

(7
0
2

) 
3

8
2

-0
7
1

1
  

F
A

X
: 

 (
7
0
2

) 
3
8
2

-5
8

1
6
 

 
Submitted by: 
 
Dated this 12th day of June, 2020 

 Approved to as form and content: 
 
Dated this 12th day of June, 2020 

   
MARQUIS AURBACH COFFING  KERN LAW LTD. 
     
     
By:  /s/ Alex Calaway  By:  /s/ Robert Kern 
 Phillip S. Aurbach, Esq. 

Nevada Bar No. 1501 
Alexander K. Calaway, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 15188 
10001 Park Run Dr. 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89145 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
 
  

  Robert Kern, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 10104 
601 S. 6th St. 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
Attorney for Defendants  
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Robert Kern, Esq. 
Nevada Bar Number 10104 
KERN LAW, Ltd. 
601 S. 6th Street 
Las Vegas, NV 89101 
(702) 518-4529 phone 
(702) 825-5872 fax 
Admin@KernLawOffices.com 
Attorney for Appellants 
 

IN THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT 
 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

 
 DOMINIQUE ARNOULD, 
                                 
                        Plaintiff/Counter-Defendant, 
  vs. 
 
CLEMENT MUNEY; CHEF EXEC 
SUPPLIERS, LLC; and DOES I through X, 
inclusive, and ROE CORPORATIONS I 
through X, inclusive, 
 
                    Defendants/Counter-Claimants. 

 
 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

 
 Case Number: 81355 
          
 Dept. Number: 27 
 
  

CASE APPEAL STATEMENT 
 

1.  Name of appellant filing this case appeal statement: CLEMENT MUNEY, CHEF 
EXEC SUPPLIERS, LLC 
 
2.  Identify the judge issuing the decision, judgment, or order appealed from: The 
Honorable Nancy Allf, Eighth Judicial District Court, Department 27. 
 
3.  Identify each appellant and the name and address of counsel for each appellant: 
Appellants Clement Muney and Chef Exec Suppliers, LLC, represented by Robert 
Kern, Esq., 601 S. 6th Street, Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
 
4.  Identify each respondent and the name and address of appellate counsel, if known, for 
each respondent: Respondent Dominique Arnould,  represented by Alexander Calaway, 
Esq. and Phillip Aurbach, Esq., 10001 Park Run Dr., Las Vegas, NV 89145  
 
 
5.  Indicate whether any attorney identified above in response to question 3 or 4 is not 
licensed to practice law in Nevada and, if so, whether the district court granted that attorney 
permission to appear under SCR 42: All identified counsel is licensed to practice law in 
Nevada.  

Electronically Filed
Jun 30 2020 01:02 p.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

Docket 81355   Document 2020-24193
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6.  Indicate whether appellant was represented by appointed or retained counsel in the 
district court: Appellants were represented by retained counsel in the district court. 
 
7.  Indicate whether appellant is represented by appointed or retained counsel on appeal: 
Appellants are represented by retained counsel on appeal. 
 
8.  Indicate whether appellant was granted leave to proceed in forma pauperis, and the date 
of entry of the district court order granting such leave: Appellants have not been granted 
leave to proceed in forma pauperis.  
 
9.  Indicate the date the proceedings commenced in the district court (e.g., date complaint, 
indictment, information, or petition was filed): The proceedings commenced in the 
district court upon the filing of Complaint on October 11, 2019. 
 
10.  Provide a brief description of the nature of the action and result in the district court, 
including the type of judgment or order being appealed and the relief granted by the district 
court: The action was brought seeking judicial dissolution of an LLC. The order being 
appealed from Granted a Motion for Preliminary Injunction. 
 
11.  Indicate whether the case has previously been the subject of an appeal to or original 
writ proceeding in the Supreme Court and, if so, the caption and Supreme Court docket 
number of the prior proceeding: This case has not previously been  the subject of an 
appeal to or original writ proceeding in the Supreme Court, however there are 
concurrent related appeals, Docket Numbers 81354 and 81356. 
 
12.  Indicate whether this appeal involves child custody or visitation: This case does not 
involve child custody or visitation. 
 
13.  If this is a civil case, indicate whether this appeal involves the possibility of 
settlement: Settlement is unlikely, but possible. 

 

 DATED this 30th day of June, 2020. 
 

By: ___/S/ Robert Kern      _______________
  Robert Kern, Esq. 

 NV Bar #10104 
 601 S. 6th Street Las Vegas, NV 89101 

(702) 518-4529 
Attorney for Plaintiff/Appellant 

AKC
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